

Brigham Young University BYU ScholarsArchive

All Theses and Dissertations

2014-12-01

Fire and Ungulate Herbivory Differentially Affect the Sexual Reproduction of Generalist and Specialist Pollinated Plants

Andrew Hollis Lybbert Brigham Young University - Provo

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd Part of the <u>Animal Sciences Commons</u>

BYU ScholarsArchive Citation

Lybbert, Andrew Hollis, "Fire and Ungulate Herbivory Differentially Affect the Sexual Reproduction of Generalist and Specialist Pollinated Plants" (2014). *All Theses and Dissertations*. 4323. https://scholarsarchive.byu.edu/etd/4323

This Thesis is brought to you for free and open access by BYU ScholarsArchive. It has been accepted for inclusion in All Theses and Dissertations by an authorized administrator of BYU ScholarsArchive. For more information, please contact scholarsarchive@byu.edu, ellen_amatangelo@byu.edu.

Fire and Ungulate Herbivory Differentially Affect the Sexual

Reproduction of Generalist and Specialist Pollinated Plants

Andrew H. Lybbert

A thesis submitted to the faculty of Brigham Young University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Loreen Allphin, Chair Samuel B. St. Clair Terry Griswold

Department of Plant and Wildlife Sciences

Brigham Young University

December 2014

Copyright © 2014 Andrew H. Lybbert

All Rights Reserved

ABSTRACT

Fire and Ungulate Herbivory Differentially Affect the Sexual Reproduction of Generalist and Specialist Pollinated Plants

Andrew H. Lybbert Department of Plant and Wildlife Sciences, BYU Master of Science

Currently the size and frequency of wildfires are increasing at a global scale, including arid ecosystems that exhibit great sensitivity to disturbance. Fire effects on plant pollination and reproductive success in deserts are largely unknown. Plant dependence on animal pollinators for reproduction can increase the risk of reproductive failure if pollination services are hindered or lost. Species that depend on few taxonomically related pollinator species are expected to be most negatively affected by disturbances that disrupt pollination interactions.

To assess fire and isolation effects on reproductive success in desert plant communities, and how wildfire influences the pollination success of generalist and specialist pollinated plants, the number of flowers, fruits, and viable seeds produced by plants surviving in burned and unburned desert landscapes were compared. Fire increased flower production for wind and generalist pollinated plants, and did not affect specialist plant flower production. Increases may be associated with positive physiological responses exhibited by plants surviving in burned areas. Fire did not affect pollination services. Wildfire effects on fruit production were neutral or positive, and overall seed:ovule ratios varied by 3% or less in burned and unburned areas for each pollination strategy. Increasing isolation within burned areas did not affect fruit production for generalist or specialist pollinated plants, suggesting that pollination services are functional across expansive burned desert landscapes. Annual reproductive output varied between years in burned and unburned areas, and shifts likely resulted from variation in annual precipitation patterns. Reductions in landscape reproductive output may be partially compensated by increased per plant fruit and seed production and maintaining pollinator services across burned landscapes, providing native shrub communities the possibility to naturally recover from fire disturbances.

Habitat disturbances can influence plant interactions with herbivores, in addition to pollinators. To understand how fire and ungulate herbivory affect reproductive success of specialist pollinated desert plants, reproductive effort, floral herbivory, and pollinator visitation and success, were compared for *Yucca baccata*, and *Yucca brevifolia* in burned and unburned areas of the Mojave Desert. Fire increased *Y. baccata* flowering from 12% to 22% of plants in burned areas, but had no effect on the number of flowers or fruits produced per plant. Fruit set and pollinator collection failed at all sampled *Y. baccata* individuals, while fire and herbivory had no effect on *Y. brevifolia* flower, fruit, and pollinator collection. Herbivores consumed 50% and 67% of floral stalks produced by *Y. baccata* in unburned and burned areas. Herbivores pose a clear threat to successful sexual reproduction for *Y. baccata*. Removal of ungulate herbivores during important flowering periods may still result in failed fruit and seed production if local pollinator reserves have been drastically reduced or lost.

Keywords: fire, pollination, herbivory, flower production, fruit set, seed:ovule, Mojave Desert

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I would like to acknowledge my advisor and committee for their guidance and support in completing this work. I would especially like to acknowledge Sam St. Clair whose vision, mentorship, and support facilitated the completion of this work, allowed me to discover my passion in research, and provided me tools to succeed as I move forward in my career. Thank you for believing in me, and providing me incredible opportunities. Special thanks to fellow graduate students Kevin Horn, Rory O'Connor, and Jason Bahr, whose friendship, support, and insights were valuable to me. This research required an incredible amount of data collection in the field, and sample analysis in the lab, and could not have been completed without an incredible group of undergraduate students, each of whom I consider a friend, and am grateful for. I would like to acknowledge, and express my love and thanks to my parents, who have always believed in my ability to accomplish more than I thought possible. Most importantly, I would like to express my love and appreciation to my incredible wife Virginia, and my beautiful daughter Elsie. Without their continual love, support, and encouragement I never could have completed this work. Lastly, I would like to express my thanks to Brigham Young University for providing me incredible educational opportunities, and the Monte L. Bean Life Science Museum for use of their fantastic field facility at the Lytle Ranch Preserve in southwestern Utah.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

TITLE PAGE	i
ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	iii
TABLE OF CONTENTS	iv
LIST OF TABLES	vii
LIST OF FIGURES	viii
Chapter 1: Fire increases post-fire reproductive success of wind, generalist, and specialist pollinated plants in the Mojave Desert, USA	
1. Introduction	2
2. Methods	5
2.1 Site location and description	5
2.2 Study Species	6
2.3 Study design	8
2.4 Flower and fruit counts	9
2.5 Seed:ovule ratios	11
2.6 Statistical analysis	11
3. Results	12
3.1 Fire effects on shrub flower, fruit, and seed production	12
3.2 Isolation effects on pollination efficiency in burned landscapes	14
3.3 Annual fluctuations in flower, fruit, and seed:ovule ratios by species	15
3.4 Fire effects on species reproduction at the landscape scale	16
4. Discussion	17
4.1 Fire effect on flower production	17

4.2 Resilience of pollination services to fire	18
4.3 Yearly variation in flower, fruit, and seed:ovule ratios	21
4.4 Landscape changes in shrub flower and fruit production	23
Conclusions	
Literature Cited	
Chapter 1: Tables	
Chapter 1: Figures	
Chapter 2: Fire differentially affects reproductive output and flower herbivory in two de <i>Yucca (Agavaceae)</i> species	lominant 45
Summary	
1.Introduction	
2. Methods	49
2.1 Study location	49
2.2 Study species	49
2.3 Reproduction and herbivory survey	51
2.4 Yucca moth trapping	52
2.5 Statistical analysis	53
3. Results	54
3.1 Fire effect on <i>Yucca</i> reproductive effort and success	54
3.2 Flower herbivory	54
3.3 Fire effect on yucca moth visitation	55
4. Discussion	55
4.1 Fire effects on <i>Yucca</i> reproductive effort	55
4.2 Fire and herbivory effects on <i>Yucca</i> reproductive structures	55

4.3 Fire effects on <i>Yucca</i> reproductive success and yucca moth floral visitation	57
Management implications	59
Literature Cited	60
Chapter 2: Tables	69
Chapter 2: Figures	71

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1.1 Floral characters, reproduction system, and flower visitors of study
species
Table 1.2 Statistical summaries of glmmADMB mixed-effects linear models evaluating flower,
fruit, and seed:ovule ratios in unburned and burned edge areas
Table 1.3 Statistical summaries of glmmADMB mixed-effects linear models evaluating flower
and fruit counts in burned edges and isolated burned areas by species and year40
Table 1.4 Percent change in flower, fruit, and seed:ovule ratios across years, within unburned
and burned edge areas. UB-UB = comparison of unburned areas; B-B = comparison of
burned edge areas42
Table 1.5 Mean shrub density and percent cover, with associated standard error values for each
study species, with estimated flower and fruit production per m ² based on plant density
changes in unburned, burned edge, and isolated burned locations
Table 2.1 Z-values from glmmADMB linear mixed-effects models examining flower, fruit, and
browsing proportions70
Table 2.2 LMER mixed-effects linear models examining the proportion of <i>Y. baccata</i> that
flowered, the number of flowers per panicle for both Y. baccata and Y. brevifolia, and the
numbers of moths collected per trap per two week trapping period for Y. brevifolia as a
function of fire

LIST OF FIGURES

- Fig. 2.2 The mean proportion (percent) of plants that flowered in unburned (black bars) and burned (grey bars) areas for *Y. baccata* and *Y. brevifolia* ± standard error values.......73
- Fig. 2.3 The mean number of flowers and fruits produced per plant in unburned (black bars) and burned (grey bars) areas for *Y. baccata* and *Y. brevifolia* ± standard error values......74

Chapter 1: Fire increases post-fire reproductive success of wind, generalist, and specialist pollinated plants in the Mojave Desert, USA

Summary

Habitat disturbances that disrupt plant-pollinator interactions can drastically affect plant sexual reproductive success. Currently the size, frequency and severity of wildfires are increasing at a global scale, including arid ecosystems that exhibit great sensitivity to disturbance. Due to the historical infrequency of wildfire occurrence, fire effects on plant pollination and reproductive success in deserts are largely unknown. To assess the effects of fire on reproductive success in desert plant communities, and understand how wildfire influences the reproductive effort and pollination success of generalist and specialist pollinated species, we quantified and compared the number of flowers, fruits, and viable seeds produced by plants surviving in burned and unburned desert landscapes. Seven shrub species located in burned and unburned areas that utilize either wind, generalist, or specialist pollination strategies, were monitored over a three-year period to answer three primary questions: 1) how does fire disturbance affect flower, fruit, and seed production differentially in wind, generalist, and specialist pollinated species? 2) Does increasing isolation within burned desert landscapes decrease pollination efficiency and fruit set? 3) Do fire effects on plant reproduction vary between years? Fire increased flower production for wind and generalist pollinated plants, and did not affect specialist plant flower production. Such increases may be associated with positive physiological responses that surviving plants exhibit in areas burned by wildfire. Pollination success, measured as fruit set and seed:ovule ratios, was generally unaffected by fire. Fire increased, or had no effect, on fruit production across pollination strategies, and overall seed:ovule ratios varied by 3% or less between burned and unburned areas for each pollination

strategy. Increasing isolation within burned areas did not affect fruit production for generalist or specialist pollinated plants. Successful pollination along burned edges, and in isolated burned areas, suggests that pollination services are functional across burned desert landscapes. Annual flower, fruit, and seed:ovule ratios varied between years in burned and unburned areas. Yearly shifts in reproduction likely resulted from variation in annual precipitation patterns. Reductions in landscape reproductive output may be partially compensated by increased per plant fruit and seed production by maintaining pollinator services across burned landscapes, and providing native shrub communities the opportunity to naturally recover from fire disturbances.

1. Introduction

The vast majority of flowering plant species depend on animal pollinators to facilitate successful pollination and sexual reproduction (Renner 1998). Although animal pollen vectors increase the efficiency of pollen transfer between flowers, dependence on mutualists for reproduction can increase plant susceptibility to habitat disturbances that disrupt plant-pollinator interactions (Bond 1994; Aizen et al. 2002). Contrasting disturbance effects on plant sexual reproduction may be explained by differences in mating system and pollinator dependencies (Bond 1994; Aizen and Feinsinger 2002). Self-incompatible (SI) plants can only produce seeds by receiving outcrossed pollen from other individuals, whereas, self-compatible (SC) species are able to sexually reproduce through autonomous, within-flower selfing (Lloyd 1992; Richards 1997). Generalist (G) pollinated plants receive pollen from several or many taxonomically diverse species, whereas specialist (S) depend on as little as one or a few taxonomically related pollinators (Bond 1994; Waser et al. 1996).

If reproductive success is related to plant dependence on pollination mutualism, selfincompatible, specialist pollinated plants should be most at risk, and display greater reproductive failure to habitat disturbances than generalist, self-compatible species (Bond 1994; Waser et al. 1996). Recent reviews indicate that habitat disturbances have considerable negative effects on both generalist and specialist pollinators, and suggest that no generalizations can be made about plant susceptibility to disturbances based on breeding system and pollination specialization (Aizen et al. 2002; Aguilar et al. 2006). However, the majority of these comparisons did not include multi-year, multi-species, or highly specialized, self-incompatible species (e.g., yuccayucca moth).

Habitat disturbances can engender strong negative effects on the reproductive responses of plant species (Aguilar et al. 2006), but may also potentially improve the quality of pollen transfer by altering pollinator movement in ways that increase outcrossing (Dick 2008). Successful pollination is influenced by many interacting factors including the number of, and distance between flowers and pollinators (Ghazoul 2005; Kremen et al. 2007). Reduction in population size, or increased isolation between plants, enhances the risk of pollination failure, reduced reproductive success, and local extinction (Jennersten 1988; Saunders et al. 1991; Kunin 1997). Direct reductions in plant density, pollinator density, and pollinator foraging behavior (Hadley and Betts 2012) can increase the risk of reproductive failure through mechanisms of pollen limitation, and inbreeding depression (Saunders et al. 1991; Kearns and Inouye 1997; Jennersten 1988; Lennartsson 2002).

Currently fire size and frequency are increasing at a global scale (Bowman et al. 2011; Neary et al. 1999; Pyne et al. 1996; Brooks et al. 2004), a trend that is expected to increase under

future climate conditions (Westerling et al. 2006). Understanding fire effects on plant pollination and reproductive success will be imperative to mitigating negative impacts, and facilitating recovery in burned landscapes. The net overall effect of fire on plant sexual reproduction is influenced by a combination of negative and positive effects. Plants can be positively affected by fire (Kerstyn and Stiling 1999) through reductions in competition, resource pulses, increased reproductive vigor (Brewer and Platt 1994) and reduced pathogen loads (Waldrop et al 1992; Kerstyn and Stiling 1999). However, if surviving plants become isolated from pollinating vectors, plant fitness may be negatively affected via pollen competition, increased selfing events, or pollination failure (Kearns and Inouye 1997).

Fire regimes across the warm deserts of the American southwest have shifted drastically in recent years. Fire frequency and size have increased substantially in the Mojave (Brooks and Matchett 2006), Sonoran (Brown 1994; Allen 2007) and Great Basin Deserts (Epanchin-Niell et al. 2009; Haubensak et al. 2009; Bukowski and Baker 2013). Shifts are strongly linked to exotic annual plant invasions that produce fine fuels that carry fire between native shrubs across desert landscapes (Brooks et al. 2004). Due to the historical infrequency of fire disturbances across these regions, desert plant communities generally experience high fire mortality (Brooks and Minnich 2006). The number of species that re-sprout from roots are limited, seed banks may be compromised, and recovery is slow (Webb 2002; Esque 2004; Abella 2009; Abella et al. 2009). This poor adaptability, coupled with unsuccessful and expensive rehabilitation strategies, suggests that native plant community re-establishment will be heavily dependent on the production and dispersal of propagules into fire fragmented spaces from surviving plants or small unburned vegetation patches within burned desert landscapes (Kay and Graves 1983; Walker and Powell 1999; Epanchin-Niell et al. 2009). As the frequency and size of fires

increase, successful pollination across desert landscapes may become increasingly difficult if isolation reduces plant reproductive success, or leads to local plant extinctions. Although desert shrub communities are becoming increasingly exposed to fire disturbances (Brooks and Matchett 2006), analysis of plant sexual reproduction across desert biomes have not been completed.

To assess the effects of fire on plant reproductive success in a desert biome, and understand how wildfire influences pollination success as a function of pollination strategy, and increased plant isolation, we quantified and compared the number of flowers, fruits, and viable seeds produced by plants in burned and unburned desert landscapes. These data were collected from seven shrub species over a three-year period. Selected species ranged in pollinator dependence from zero dependency wind pollinated species, to a plant pollinated by a single insect species. Data were collected to answer three primary questions: 1) how does fire disturbance affect flower, fruit, and seed production differentially in wind, generalist, and specialist pollinated species? 2) Does increasing isolation within burned desert landscapes decrease pollination efficiency and fruit set? 3) Do fire effects on plant reproduction vary between years?

2. Methods

2.1 Site location and description

This study was conducted in the Beaver Dam Wash of southwestern Utah during three successive spring flowering periods (March-June) from 2012-2014. This area is located in the northeastern region of the Mojave Desert, which is generally characterized by widely spaced, low growing perennial shrubs (Cody 1986a, 1986b). The dominant flora consists of blackbrush

(*Coleogyne ramosissima*), creosote bush (*Larrea tridentata*), white bursage (*Ambrosia dumosa*), and Joshua tree (*Yucca brevifolia*). In recent years the landscape has been altered by plant invasions and changing fire regimes. Invasive plant species including red-stem filaree (*Erodium cicutarum*), Schismus spp. and red brome (*Bromus rubens*). Flower and fruit counts from burned areas were sampled from four individual fires that occurred in the spring and summer of 2005: Westside (June, 27,059 ha), Duzak (July, 7,065 ha – within Utah), Burgess 1 (July, 60 ha), and Burgess 2 (July, 712 ha) (Utah Bureau of Land Management). Weather data was taken from the MesoWest Badger Spring (BADU1) weather station (mesowest.utah.edu), located within the Beaver Dam Wash study area (37.1506° N, 113.9539° W, elevation: 1216 m).

2.2 Study Species

To understand fire effect on desert plant reproduction we selected seven native perennial desert shrub species that are not only prevalent across the Mojave Desert, but also represent a range of breeding system characteristics and pollinator dependency (Table 1.1).

(1) *Ambrosia dumosa* (Gray) Payne (burrobush, hereafter referred to as '*Ambrosia*') is a wind-pollinated, drought-deciduous rhizomatous shrub growing from 20-60 cm tall. It flowers anytime during the spring, summer, and fall, depending on precipitation patterns (Ackerman et al. 1980).

(2) *Coleogyne ramosissima* Torr. (blackbrush, hereafter referred to as '*Coleogyne*') is a wind pollinated rounded shrub, 30-120 cm or more tall (Welsh et al. 1993), that dominates much of the landscapes throughout its range. Flowering occurs from late March – early May (Bowns and West 1976). However, the degree, and timing of flowering varies significantly from year to year (Beatley 1974).

(3) *Larrea tridentata* (DC.) Coville (creosote bush, hereafter referred to as '*Larrea*') is a drought-tolerant, evergreen shrub that typically grows 50-200cm tall, but can reach heights up to 400 cm (Munz and Keck 1959). *Larrea* boasts a rich pollination guild, which consists of >100 pollinator species (Minckley et al. 1999).

(4) *Encelia farinosa* A. Gray ex Torr. (brittlebush, hereafter referred to as '*Encelia*') is a drought-deciduous shrub that grows to about 150 cm (Monson et al. 1992), and flowers from March-May (Munz and Keck 1968). *Encelia* flowers are visited by a wide variety of bee and beetle species, however, known pollinators are not well established in the primary literature, and were therefore determined using the discover life database (discoverlife.org).

(5) *Thamnosma montana* Torr. & Frém. (turpentine broom, hereafter referred to as *'Thamnosma'*) is a profusely branched, 30-80 cm tall, deciduous shrub (Benson and Darrow 1981). Spring flowering is variable, beginning as early as February, or starting late enough to extend into May (Kearney et al. 1960; Munz 1974). *Thamnosma* flowers are visited by bees and butterfly species, however, visitors are not well established in the literature, and were therefore determined using the discover life database (discoverlife.org), and personal observations.

(6) *Krameria grayi* (Rose & Painter) (white ratany, hereafter referred to as '*Krameria*') is a densely branched, deciduous shrub 30-60 cm tall. *Krameria* was categorized as a specialist pollinated plant because the flowers offer oil, rather than nectar rewards to flower visiting insects, which restricts *Krameria* visitation to bees primarily in the genus *Centris* (Buchmann 1987).

(7) *Yucca brevifolia* Engelm. (Joshua tree, hereafter referred to as '*Yucca*') is a tall, evergreen, tree-like plant. Size and growth form often vary with site and climate conditions (Munz 1974). Flowers occur in dense, heavy panicles (Hickman 1993). *Yucca* represents the most specialized pollination strategy in this study. Seed production is periodic or rare, although wet years are suggested as best for flowering and fruit production (Maxwell 1971).

2.3 Study design

To survey plant reproductive responses to fire over the three year study period we established a network of 1 kilometer transects by driving small metal posts into the ground to act as permanent markers every 100m along the full length of each transect (0m, 100m, 200m and so on). Each transect in a pair was positioned in a burned or unburned area, and each transect was positioned approximately 200m on either side of a burn boundary. For the 2012 data collection five transect pairs were positioned along adjacent burned/unburned boundaries incorporating four independent fires that occurred in 2005 (Fig. 1.1). For the 2013 and 2014 field seasons an additional burned/unburned transect was established; and 5 transects were set up within the burns in which sampling points were on average > 1.5 km from burn boundaries (isolated burned) to test the effects of isolation within large fires on plant reproductive success. GPS waypoints were taken so each marker could be repeatedly located throughout the duration of our study. Many of the study species flowered episodically from year to year, which is why some species were not sampled in each field season. In 2012 data were collected from four species (Ambrosia, Larrea, Encelia, and Krameria fruit counts). All seven species were sampled in 2013 (Table 1.1). In 2014 five species were sampled (Ambrosia, Larrea, Encelia, Thamnosma, and Krameria).

To determine individual plants for monitoring, we selected an individual of each species in closest proximity to each 200m increment maker along all transects (5 plants/species/transect). To limit selection bias, plants were chosen before any flowering had occurred. Some species were not evenly represented across all sample areas. *Ambrosia, Coleogyne,* and *Krameria* were particularly difficult to locate in the 5 isolated expansive burned transects, resulting in their exclusion from evaluation in these areas. Individual plants were marked with a specific rounded aluminum numerical identification tag and a GPS waypoint was taken so we could repeatedly monitor the same individuals and capture the variation of our reproductive response variables throughout the duration of the study.

To account for variation in plant size, the height and the width along major and minor perpendicular axes was used to calculate the volume of each plant. *Ambrosia, Coleogyne, Thamnosma,* and *Krameria* volumes were calculated based on the shape of an oblate spheroid, *Encelia* volumes were calculated based on the shape of a half spheroid, and *Larrea* and *Yucca* volumes were calculated based on the shape of a cone with an elliptical cross section.

2.4 Flower and fruit counts

Flowers on many of our study species can bloom and wilt over a very short period of time making accurate total seasonal flower counts for all species and transects logistically impossible. For that reason mean flower counts were generated by averaging only the single largest flower count recorded for each plant within each year, so they do not represent total average flower production for the season, unlike the mean fruit counts.

Flowers, and fruits were counted on every plant selected along each transect. Flower counts were conducted every other week throughout the duration of the spring flowering period (March-June) until it was clear that peak flowering had passed. Fruit counts were completed 2-3 weeks after flowering had ceased. Flower and fruit counts per plant were exhaustive in 2012, however, in 2013 and 2014 counts were estimated by multiplying counts of randomly chosen quadrants. To accurately count flowers that are displayed in tightly packed clumps or inflorescences, we generated an average flower number/inflorescence by collecting 10 inflorescences from several adjacent individuals in each of the three landscape categories (unburned, burned edges, and isolated burned) and carefully counted the number of flowers in them. Total flower counts were then estimated by multiplying the average flower number per inflorescence by the total number of inflorescences counted on the plant. This method was used only for flower counts on Ambrosia and Yucca individuals. Fruit sizes for these taxa were large and distinct enough to be counted individually. In the first year that Krameria and Thamnosma were added to the study, there were no flower counts because we added them too late in the field season to accurately count flowers.

Flower and fruit production per unit ground area was estimated by multiplying plant densities by average flower and fruit production per plant. Plant community structure was characterized using circular vegetation plots with a 5m radius placed every 100m along each of our transect lines for a total of 169 plots (70 unburned, 69 burned edges, and 50 isolated burned). Within each plot, shrubs were counted, identified, and plant height, as well as major and minor axes, were measured. Plant species densities were used to calculate the number of species individuals per hectare in unburned, burned edges and isolated burned areas. Landscape level reproductive responses were estimated by multiplying the number of species individuals per

hectare with the mean number of flowers and fruits produced per plant calculated for each species within each respective burn type and year. Plants in the vegetation plots with volumetric measurements which fell below that of the smallest plants used to sample flower and fruit count data, were assumed reproductively immature, and were excluded from calculations.

2.5 Seed:ovule ratios

Fruits were collected after maturing on the plant (approximately 1-2 months), from the same individuals where flower and fruit counts were completed, and came from multiple shrubs along each transect. The *Ambrosia, Larrea, Encelia,* and *Krameria* species were evaluated in 2012 and 2013, with the addition of the *Yucca* species in 2013 (the only year in which it flowered during our study). Fruits were collected into paper coin envelopes, placed into brown paper bags, and stored in a dry, cool, dark location in the St. Clair research lab in Provo, UT. Ovules were evaluated based on size, color, shape and firmness, after careful extraction from other protective tissues on the fruit. An ovule was considered a filled seed if it was full size, dark, and hardened when prodded with a dissecting needle.

2.6 Statistical analysis

Mixed-effects linear models were used to examine fire effects on flower, fruit, plant density and percent cover, and seed:ovule proportions using Automatic Differentiation Model Builder (glmmADMB). ADMB fits mixed effects models to count data using Poisson or negative binomial response distributions (Skaug et al. 2011). In our mixed-effect models burn type, pollination strategy, and year were specified as fixed effects, site (transect number) and plant size (volume) were specified as random effects, and the specific plant identification number was examined as a random effect in comparisons between years to account for repeated measures.

Flower, fruit, and vegetation data were evaluated using a negative binomial distribution, and seed:ovule ratios were evaluated using a binomial distribution due to the binary response (filled = 1, aborted = 0). To verify the application of a negative binomial distribution, assumptions of normality and homoscedasticity were visually inspected using residual plots (e.g. histogram, scatterplot, and qqnorm of residuals). The negative binomial distribution fits biological count data well, and provides greater flexibility in evaluating a variety of patterns in animal or plant distributions (White and Bennetts 1996). All calculations, models, assumption analyses and determinations of statistical significance were performed using program R software language and environment for statistical computing (R Development Core Team 2008).

3. Results

3.1 Fire effects on shrub flower, fruit, and seed production

Fire effects on shrub flower production were neutral to positive across species and pollination groups. Fire more than doubled flower production in burned edge areas for wind pollinated plants (Fig. 1.2) Among wind pollinated plants, *Ambrosia* flower production increased more than four fold in burned edge areas in 2012 (Table 1.2). Fire effects on *Ambrosia* and *Coleogyne* flower production were neutral in 2013 and 2014 (Table 1.2). Overall, fire effects more than doubled flower production in burned edge areas for generalist pollinated plants, increasing 2.6 fold (Fig. 1.2, Table 1.2). Among pollination generalists, *Larrea* flower production increased more than three fold in 2012 and 2014, and more than two fold in 2013 (Table 1.2). Fire effects on *Encelia* flower production were neutral in all three study years (Table 1.2). Fire increased *Thamnosma* flower production 2.7 fold in burned edge areas (Table 1.2). Fire

effects on flower production were neutral for specialist pollinated plants overall, and at the individual species level for both *Krameria* and *Yucca* (Table 1.2).

Fire effects on shrub fruit production were neutral to positive across species and pollination groups, with the exception of *Encelia* 2013. Fire effects on fruit production were neutral for wind pollinated plants overall (Fig. 1.2). Among wind pollinated plants, *Ambrosia* fruit production increased 10 fold in burned edge areas is 2012 (Table 1.2). Fire effects on *Ambrosia* and *Coleogyne* fruit production were neutral in 2013 and 2014 (Table 1.2). Overall, fruit set for generalist pollinated plants, fruit production for *Larrea* increased 4.7 fold in 2012, but effects were neutral in 2013 and 2014 (Table 1.2). Fire effects were neutral in 2013 and 2014 (Table 1.2). Fire increased 9.8 fold in 2013, but effects were neutral in 2012 and 2014 (Table 1.2). Fire increased *Thamnosma* fruit production in burned edge areas 2.9 and 4.9 fold 2013 and 2014 (Table 1.2). Overall, fire effects on fruit production were neutral for specialist pollinated plants, and at the individual species level for both *Krameria* and *Yucca* (Table 1.2).

Fire effected shrub seed:ovule ratios differently across pollination strategies (Fig. 1.2). Overall, fire had no effect on seed:ovule ratios of wind pollinated plants, with only about 1% of fruits producing filled seeds (Fig. 1.2). Among wind pollinated plants, fire had no effect on *Ambrosia* seed production in 2012 or 2013 (Table 1.2). Fire reduced seed:ovule ratios from 53% to 50% in burned edge areas for generalist pollinated plants (Fig. 1.2). Among generalist pollinated plants, fire decreased *Larrea* seed:ovule ratios from 79% to 73% in burned edge areas in 2012 (Table 1.2). In 2013 fire increased *Larrea* seed:ovule ratios 3.6 fold, from 10% to 36% in burned edge areas (Table 1.2). Fire effects on *Encelia* seed:ovule ratios were neutral in 2012,

and positive in 2013, increasing seed:ovule ratios from 21% to 29% (Table 1.2). Specialist pollinated species produced the highest number of seeds per ovule overall, and fire only slightly increased seed production in burned edge areas from 64% to 65% (Fig. 1.2). Among specialist pollinated plants, fire had no effect on *Krameria* seed production in 2012 or 2013, and all recorded seed:ovule ratios fell below 10% filled seed (Table 1.2). Fire decreased seed:ovule ratios 5% for *Yucca*, dropping from 72% to 67% in burned edge areas (Table 1.2).

3.2 Isolation effects on pollination efficiency in burned landscapes

Isolation effects on shrub floral production were neutral for generalist and specialist pollinated plants when compared to burned edge locations. Overall, isolation had no effect on generalist pollinated plant flower production (Fig. 1.2). Among generalist pollinated plants, isolation effects were neutral for *Larrea, Encelia,* and *Thamnosma* in 2013 and 2014 (Table 1.2). Isolation did not affect specialist flower production between isolated burned locations, and burned areas situated adjacent to fire boundaries (Fig. 1.2). However, due to the absence of *Krameria* individuals in isolated burned areas, only *Yucca* values were used for specialist burned edge-isolated burn comparisons.

Isolation effects on shrub fruit production were neutral for generalist and specialist pollinated plants when compared to burned edge locations. Overall, isolation had no effect on generalist pollinated plant fruit production (Fig. 1.2). Among generalist pollinated plants, isolation effects were neutral for *Larrea*, *Encelia*, and *Thamnosma* in 2013 and 2014 (Table 1.2). Isolation had no effect on fruit set for specialist pollinated plants when compared to burned edge areas (Fig. 1.2). Due to the absence of *Krameria* individuals in isolated burned areas, only *Yucca* values were used for specialist burned edge-isolated burn comparisons.

3.3 Annual fluctuations in flower, fruit, and seed:ovule ratios by species

Shrub flower, fruit and seed:ovule ratios varied drastically by year and burn type. Annual fluctuation had no effect on flower production in unburned areas between all species and year comparisons (Table 1.4). *Ambrosia* flower production in burned edge areas increased 49% from 2012 to 2013, but dropped 90% from 2013 to 2014 (Table 1.4). *Larrea* flower production in burned edge areas increased 65% from 2012 to 2013, and did not fluctuate significantly from 2013 to 2014 (Table 1.4). *Encelia* flower production in burned edge areas increased 200% from 2012 to 2013, and did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, and did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, and did not fluctuate significantly from 2013 to 2014 (Table 1.4). *Krameria* flower production, which was only recorded in 2013 and 2014, decreased 93% in burned edge areas from 2013 to 2014 (Table 1.4).

Ambrosia fruit production increased substantially in both unburned and burned edge areas, increasing 605% and 874 % from 2012 to 2013 (Table 1.4). *Ambrosia* fruit production did not fluctuate between 2013 and 2014 in unburned or burned edge areas (Table 1.4). *Larrea* fruit production did not fluctuate significantly in unburned or burned edge areas across study years (Table 1.4). Annual variation in *Encelia* fruit production varied between unburned and burned edge areas. *Encelia* fruit production in unburned areas increased 456% from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2013 to 2014 (Table 1.4). *Encelia* fruit production in burned edge areas decreased 72% from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2012 to 2013, but did not vary between years (Table 1.4). In burned edge areas *Krameria* fruit production decreased 79% from 2012 to 2013, but did not fluctuate significantly from 2013 to 2014 (Table 1.4).

3.4 Fire effects on species reproduction at the landscape scale

Fire effects on plant density and percent cover were neutral or negative for all seven study species. In burned edge locations, fire significantly reduced plant density for five of the seven study species (Table 1.5). In isolated burned locations, vegetation analysis failed to detect the presence of surviving *Ambrosia*, *Coleogyne*, and *Krameria* individuals. *Larrea* density in isolated burned areas was reduced compared to both unburned and burned edge locations (Table 1.5). *Thamnosma* density was reduced compared to unburned areas, but was slightly higher compared to burned edge locations (Table 1.5). *Yucca* density in isolated burned locations was slightly higher than burned edge locations, and did not differ significantly from unburned areas (Table 1.5). Fire reduction of plant cover in burned edge locations was significant for six of the seven study species (Table 1.5). *Larrea*, *Encelia*, and *Yucca* percent cover in isolated burned areas did not differ significantly from unburned or burned edge locations (Table 1.5). *Thamnosma* percent cover in isolated burned or burned edge locations (Table 1.5). *Thamnosma* percent cover in isolated burned or burned edge locations (Table 1.5). *Thamnosma* percent cover in isolated burned or burned edge locations (Table 1.5).

In conjunction with reductions in plant density and cover, fire drastically reduced the total predicted number of flowers and fruits produced across unburned and burned landscapes (Table 1.5). Conspecific reductions in flower production per unit ground area in burned edge locations ranged from 30% to 98%, with the exception of *Encelia* flower production (Table 1.5). Fruit production per unit ground area reductions ranged from 31% to 97% in burned edge locations (Table 1.5). In isolated burned areas no surviving individuals were recorded for *Ambrosia, Coleogyne,* or *Krameria* (Table 1.5). Of the species that could be located in isolated burned areas, flower reductions per unit ground area ranged from 57% to 91% (Table 1.5). Fruit

reduction per unit ground area in isolated burned areas ranged from 91% to 96%, with the exception of *Thamnosma* fruit production (Table 1.5).

4. Discussion

4.1 Fire effect on flower production

Fire strongly increased flower production for wind and generalist pollinated plants in burned edge areas, and had no effect on specialist pollinated plant flower production (Fig. 1.2, Table 1.2). Positive fire disturbance effects on plant reproduction have been reported in the literature, and are not uncommon, in fire driven/dependent ecosystems (Brewer and Platt 1994; Kerstyn and Stiling 1999; Barrios et al. 2011). However, the strong positive effect of fire on flower production in desert shrub species is particularly interesting and unexpected, considering the historical infrequency of wildfire occurrence, and poor adaptability of plants to fire in warm desert plant communities (Abella 2009; Abella et al. 2009). Because flower production requires substantial allocation of carbon, nutrient, and water resources, floral production in resource-poor environments, such as deserts (Hadley and Szarek 1981), may be closely linked to increased resource availability (Beatley 1974).

Plants that survive wildfires may produce more flowers relative to unburned areas, due to shifts in environmental conditions, such as soil hydrology and nutrient content (Webb et al. 2009). Increased water and nutrient relations and growth have been reported for desert shrubs surviving in fire disturbed areas even six years post-fire (Horn et al. in review). Immediately following wildfire, nitrogen stored in plant tissues are returned to the soil, strongly altering soil nutrient status (Esque et al. 2010). Increased foliar nitrogen has been reported for desert shrubs

surviving in fire disturbed areas (Horn et al. in review), however, soil nutrient pulses associated with such disturbances can dissipate within 1-2 years (Esque et al. 2010). This suggests that altered soil nutrient status, directly resulting from wildfire disturbances, may not be the primary mechanism driving increased flower production in burned areas 7-9 years post-fire.

Competition release, resulting from shrub density reductions following wildfires, could reduce soil resource competition, and link increases in soil water and nutrients (Horn et al. in review) to increases in shrub floral production in burned landscapes (Brisson and Reynolds 1994; Holzapfel and Mahall 1999). Removal of neighboring vegetation increases plant water relations, and the death of nearby plants may allow surviving roots to extend into areas of former competitors (Fonteyn and Mahall 1981). Drastic wildfire reductions in shrub density (Table 1.5), coupled with the slow regeneration of native desert plant communities (Webb et al. 2009), suggests that competitive release may be the principal driver of fire effects on plant reproduction across burned landscapes.

Recent work comparing functional responses of desert perennial shrub species in burned and unburned areas reported positive physiological responses of plants surviving in areas disturbed by wildfire (Horn et al. in review). Although the exact mechanism(s) are poorly understood, enhanced nutrient and water acquisition by shrubs surviving in burned desert landscapes suggests that a link exists between fires, plant functional responses, and enhanced sexual reproductive effort.

4.2 Resilience of pollination services to fire

Successful fruit and seed production for wind, generalist, and specialist pollinated plants surviving in burned areas, suggests that fire does not affect plant sexual reproduction based on the specificity of plant-pollinator relationships in this desert ecosystem. Two large reviews evaluating plant sexual reproduction in response to habitat disturbance in general, report plant reproductive success to be considerably negatively affected for both generalist and specialist pollinated plants (Aizen et al. 2002; Aguilar et al. 2006). Data provided here, indicating the neutral to positive effect of fire disturbance on both generalist and specialist pollinated plants, may contrast expectations from the literature for several key reasons. (1) The vast majority of studies evaluating disturbance effects on plant pollination characterize responses from a single plant species, in a single flowering season (Aguilar et al. 2006). Additionally, the criteria for selecting study species may favor plants that are rare or threatened, suggesting that disturbance effects on plant pollination may actually be less severe than reported in the literature (Aguilar et al. 2006). (2) Fire disturbances are generally unique from other disturbance types, in that plants can be positively affected by fire (Kerstyn and Stiling 1999). Through reductions in competition, resource pulses, increased reproductive vigor (Brewer and Platt 1994) and reduced pathogen loads (Waldrop et al 1992; Kerstyn and Stiling 1999), fire can differentially affect plant reproduction across species and habitat types.

Differences in fruit and seed:ovule ratios between wind, generalist, and specialist pollinated plants in burned and unburned areas, suggests there are inherent trade-offs between pollination strategies and the efficiency of ovule fertilization associated with them. Fire had no effect on fruit and seed:ovule ratios for wind pollinated plants, however, wind pollination seed:ovule ratios were greatly reduced compared to generalist and specialist pollinated plants (Fig. 1.2). While wind pollinated plants are not at risk of losing pollination services due to the

loss of pollinators, seed production can be variable due to the high risk of wasting pollen during transport (Wilcock and Neiland 2002). Fire increased generalist plant fruit production in burned edge areas (Fig. 1.2), and only reduced seed:ovule ratios by 3% (Fig. 1.2), resulting in a significant increase in the number of seeds produced per shrub in burned edge areas. Resilience is expected in generalist plant-pollinator networks where the overall number of strong dependenies is low (Bascompte et al. 2006), and the utilization of many pollinating species may have buffered plant-pollinator relationships, maximizing pollination (Ashworth et al. 2004). Fire had no effect on specialist plant fruit production in burned edge areas (Fig. 1.2), and increased seed:ovule ratios by only 1% (Fig. 1.2), suggesting that specialized pollination services are consistent across burned and unburned desert landscapes. The high group seed:ovule ratios for specialist pollinated plants in unburned and burned edge areas (~65%) were heavily influenced by high Yucca seed:ovule ratios, which fire reduced by only 5% in burned edge areas (Table 1.2). While the loss of specialist pollinators can have the most catastrophic impact on plant reproductive success, specialist pollinators typically deliver high quality conspecific pollen (Ashman et al. 2004). Therefore, Yucca pollination success in burned areas may be attributed to yucca moth efficiency required to secure resources for developing moth larvae (Powell 1992). Reduced generalist seed: ovule ratios (~50%), relative to specialist pollinated plants (~65%), demonstrates the disadvantage of utilizing generalist pollinators, which can deliver pollen that is often tainted with incompatible pollen, blocking stamens and reducing seed:ovule ratios (Brown and Mitchell 2001).

Ultimately, fire effects on plant-pollinator interactions will depend largely on the resilience of networks to distributional mismatches that could result in the loss of pollination services to surviving or regenerating vegetation. In this study, isolation had no effect on

pollination services, measured as fruit set, across expansive burned lanscapes (Fig. 1.2, Table 1.2). Successful fruit production in burned isolated, and burned edge locations for generalist and specialist pollinated plants, may be attributed to the efficiency and surviviability of pollinators associated with desert pollination networks. Solitary bees compose the most diverse, abundant, and dominant pollinator group in arid and semi-arid regions (Michener 2000). The vast majority of desert solitary bee fauna nest underground and are largely expected to survive the immediate effects of wildfire (Cane and Neff 2011). The same may be true for yucca moths, which also "nest" underground in cocoons while in diapause (Pellmyr 2003). Considering the relatively limited foraging ranges of bees and vucca moths, successful fruit set in isolated burned areas (Fig. 1.2), suggests that pollinators are residing deep within burned landscapes, and are most likely not traveling 1.5-2km into these areas from adjacent unburned habitat, even though bees can fly great distances if necessary (Kunin 1993; Gathmann and Tscharntke 2002; Marr et al. 2000). Fire may also sustain pollination success by generating nesting locations for pollinators in disturbed sites, indirectly improving floral rewards and overall plant attractiveness to pollinators (see section 4.1), and facilitating quality outcrossing by forcing pollinators to move greater distances between conspecific plants (Potts et al. 2003, 2005; Caruso et al. 2005; Dick 2008).

4.3 Yearly variation in flower, fruit, and seed:ovule ratios

Across years the magnitude of flower, fruit, and seed production fluctuated greatly between species and within some conspecific burn comparisons (Table 1.4). Generally, the largest proportions of flowers were produced in 2013 (Table 1.2), and increases compared to 2012 flower values, were significant for all species in burned edge, but not unburned areas (Table 1.4). Annual shifts in floral production may have resulted from differences in

precipitation leading up to, and during spring flowering and reproductive seasons (Beatley 1974). The minimum precipitation requirement (>25mm; Beatley 1974) to facilitate spring flowering in shrub species was met each study year, however, the timing and magnitude of precipitation events varied drastically within years (mesowest.utah.edu). In 2013, total March and April precipitation was 1.5 times greater than 2012, and nearly 3.5 times greater than in 2014 (mesowest.utah.edu). This late spring surge in precipitation may explain why flower production was so high in 2013 (Beatley 1974).

Consistent increases of flower production, associated with increased spring precipitation, in burned edge areas from 2012 to 2013 (Table 1.4), suggests that reproduction may be less water limited in areas disturbed by wildfire. Shrubs surviving in burned areas are generally less stressed for water than plants in unburned areas (Horn et al. in review), which may enable more water to be allocated to the synthesis and maintenance of reproductive structures.

Fluctuation in fruit and seed:ovule ratios did not appear to follow precipitation trends as closely as flower production throughout this study. Overall, fruit production was greatest in 2013, however, annual fluctuation in fruit set for individual species both increased and decreased in unburned and burned edge areas during our three year study period (Table 1.4). Shifts in annual reproductive success may be influenced by a variety of ecological factors that affect successful fruit and seed production. The timing of flowering, competition for pollinators, seed predation, and pollen limitation that plants experience as a natural condition, all may influence annual fluctuations in reproductive success, independent of fire effects, (Pettersson 1991; English-Loeb and Karban 1992; Dudash 1993; Burd 1994; Brody 1997). Further research

utilizing long-term (many years) patterns of plant sexual reproduction may provide a better understanding of annual reproductive response variation in desert landscapes.

4.4 Landscape changes in shrub flower and fruit production

Despite increased flower, fruit, and seed production per plant in burned areas (Table 1.2), unburned landscapes produced a greater total number of flowers, fruits, and seeds per unit ground area (Table 1.5). Shifts in total reproductive output across burned and unburned desert landscapes appear to be strongly linked with changes in plant density resulting from wildfire, as evidenced by flower and fruit reductions ranging from 30%-98% for species in burned edge locations, with the exception of Encelia flower production, and decreases in flower and fruit production ranging from 57%-100% in isolated burned areas, with the exception of *Thamnosma* fruit production (Table 1.5). Contrasting fire effects between landscape and individual plant comparisons emphasize the importance of scale considerations when evaluating disturbance effects on plant communities. Successful, and often increased flower, fruit, and seed production at the individual shrub level may partially compensate for reductions in landscape reproductive output, even though total seed production across burned landscapes is guite limited compared to unburned areas. Ultimately, the ability of individual plants to potentially offset landscape level reductions in flower, fruit, and seed production, will depend on the survivability of pollinating fauna, and the maintenance of pollination services across fire disturbed landscapes. Successful fruit and seed production of generalist and specialist pollinated plants in burned edge, and isolated burned areas suggests that pollinating species reside in, and are foraging across burned landscapes. Bottom-up effects, such as food availability, are critical for pollinator populations (Steffan-Dewenter and Schiele 2008), and increased food availability from generalist and

specialist pollinated plants surviving in burned areas may be able to compensate for potential diet reductions that pollinators may experience while foraging across burned landscapes.

Conclusions

The occurance of wildfires will likely intensify as climate changes prolong growing seasons and increase temperature and drought events (Westerling et al. 2006). Additionally, exotic annual plant invasions increase the size and frequency of wildfires in many regions around the world (D'Antonio and Vitousek 1992). These changes together make the persistence of plant populations increasingly more dependent on the ability of pollinators to move across expanding fragmented lansdscapes (Amarasekare 2004). Fire disturbance can exhibit positive bottom-up effects on plant sexual reproduction through reductions in competition, resource pulses, and increased reproductive vigor that may compensate and regulate pollinator populations (Brewer and Platt 1994; Kerstyn and Stiling 1999; Steffan-Dewenter and Schiele 2008). Sexual reproduction provides an independent dispersal phase, increased genetic diversity opportunities, and the potential for populations to adapt to changing environmental conditions (Wilcock and Neiland 2002). Results on the effects of fire disturbance and isolation on plant reproduction suggest that fire increases, or has no effect on flower, fruit and seed production for wind, generalist, and specialist pollinated plant species. Pollination services are robust across desert landscapes, and are not affected by isolation from intact shrub communities. Such resilience, resulting in successful sexual reproduction, will be critical to the long-term sustainability of plant populations, and should continue as long as plant-pollinator interactions can overcome temporal or distributional mismatches that result in the loss of pollination services.

Literature Cited

- Abella, S. R. (2009). Post-fire plant recovery in the Mojave and Sonoran Deserts of western North America. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 73(8), 699-707.
- Abella, S. R., Engel, E. C., Lund, C. L., & Spencer, J. E. (2009). Early post-fire plant establishment on a Mojave Desert burn. *Madroño*, 56(3), 137-148.
- Ackerman, T. L.; Romney, E. M.; Wallace, A.; Kinnear, J. E. 1980. Phenology of desert shrubs in southern Nye County, Nevada. In: Great Basin Naturalist Memoirs No. 4. Nevada desert ecology. Provo, UT: Brigham Young University: 4-23. [3197]
- Aguilar, R., Ashworth, L., Galetto, L., & Aizen, M. A. (2006). Plant reproductive susceptibility to habitat fragmentation: review and synthesis through a meta-analysis. *Ecology Letters*, 9(8), 968-980.
- Aizen, M. A., & Feinsinger, P. (2003). Bees not to be? Responses of insect pollinator faunas and flower pollination to habitat fragmentation. In *How landscapes change* (pp. 111-129).
 Springer Berlin Heidelberg.
- Aizen, M. A., Ashworth, L., & Galetto, L. (2002). Reproductive success in fragmented habitats:
 do compatibility systems and pollination specialization matter? *Journal of Vegetation Science, 13*(6), 885-892.
- Allen, C.D., 2007. Interactions across spatial scales among forest dieback, fire, and erosion in northern New Mexico landscapes. Ecosystems 10, 797–808.
- Amarasekare P. 2004. Spatial dynamics of mutualistic interactions. *J. Anim. Ecol.* 73:128-42 American Journal of Botany 86, 871–879.

- Ashman, T. L., Knight, T. M., Steets, J. A., Amarasekare, P., Burd, M., Campbell, D. R., et al. (2004). Pollen limitation of plant reproduction: Ecological and evolutionary causes and consequences. *Ecology*, 85(9), 2408-2421.
- Ashworth, L., Aguilar, R., Galetto, L., & Aizen, M. A. (2004). Why do pollination generalist and specialist plant species show similar reproductive susceptibility to habitat fragmentation?. *Journal of Ecology*, 92(4), 717-719.
- Barrios, B., Arellano, G., & Koptur, S. (2011). The effects of fire and fragmentation on occurrence and flowering of a rare perennial plant. *Plant Ecology*, *212*(6), 1057-1067.
- Bascompte, J. et al. 2006. Asymmetric coevolutionary networks facilitate biodiversity maintenance. Science 312: 431433.
- Beatley, J. C. (1974). Phenological events and their environmental triggers in Mojave Desert ecosystems. *Ecology*, 856-863.
- Benson, Lyman; Darrow, Robert A. 1981. The trees and shrubs of the Southwestern deserts. Tucson, AZ: The University of Arizona Press. [18066]
- Bond, W. J. (1994). Do mutualisms matter? Assessing the impact of pollinator and disperser disruption on plant extinction. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 344(1307), 83-90.
- Bowman, D. M., Balch, J., Artaxo, P., Bond, W. J., Cochrane, M. A., D'Antonio, C. M., & Swetnam, T. W. (2011). The human dimension of fire regimes on Earth. *Journal of biogeography*, 38(12), 2223-2236.
- Bowns, James E.; West, Neil E. 1976. Blackbrush (Coleogyne ramosissima Torr.) on southwestern Utah rangelands. Research Report 27. Logan, UT: Utah State University, Utah Agricultural Experiment Station. 27 p. [3831]
- Brewer, J. S., & Platt, W. J. (1994). EFFECTS OF FIRE SEASON AND HERBIVORY ON REPRODUCTIVE SUCCESS IN A CLONAL FORB, PITYOPSIS-GRAMINIFOLIA. *Journal of Ecology*, *82*(3), 665-675.
- Brisson, J., & Reynolds, J. F. (1994). The effect of neighbors on root distribution in a creosotebush (Larrea tridentata) population. *Ecology*, 1693-1702.
- Brody, A. K. (1997). Effects of pollinators, herbivores, and seed predators on flowering phenology. *Ecology*, *78*(6), 1624-1631.
- BROOKS, M. L., AND R. A. MINNICH. 2006. Southeastern deserts bioregion. In: N. G.
 Sugihara, J. W. van Wagtendonk, K. E. Shaffer, J. Fites-Kaufman, and A. E. Thode
 [EDS.]. Fire in California's ecosystems. Berkeley, CA, USA: The University of
 California Press. p. 391–414.
- Brooks, M. L., & Matchett, J. R. (2006). Spatial and temporal patterns of wildfires in the Mojave Desert, 1980-2004. *Journal of Arid Environments*, 67, 148-164.
- BROOKS, M. L., C. M. D'ANTONIO, D. M. RICHARDSON, J. B. GRACE, J. E. KEELEY, J.M. DITOMASO, R. J. HOBBS, M. PELLANT, AND D. PYKE. 2004. Effects of invasive alien plants on fire regimes. Bioscience 54:677–688.
- Brown, D.E. (Ed.), 1994. Biotic Communities: Southwestern United States and Northwestern Mexico. University of Utah Press, Salt Lake City, Utah, USA.
- Brown, B. J., & Mitchell, R. J. (2001). Competition for pollination: effects of pollen of an invasive plant on seed set of a native congener. *Oecologia*, *129*(1), 43-49.
- Buchmann, S. L. (1987). THE ECOLOGY OF OIL FLOWERS AND THEIR BEES. Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics, 18, 343-369.

- Bukowski, B. E., & Baker, W. L. (2013). Historical fire regimes, reconstructed from land-survey data, led to complexity and fluctuation in sagebrush landscapes. *Ecological applications*, *23*(3), 546-564.
- Burd, M. (1994). Bateman's principle and plant reproduction: the role of pollen limitation in fruit and seed set. *The Botanical Review*, *60*(1), 83-139.
- Cane, J. H., & Neff, J. L. (2011). Predicted fates of ground-nesting bees in soil heated by wildfire: Thermal tolerances of life stages and a survey of nesting depths. *Biological Conservation*, 144(11), 2631-2636.
- Caruso, C. M., Remington, D. L. D. & Ostergren, K. E. (2005). Variation in resource limitation of plant reproduction influences natural selection on floral traits of Asclepias syriaca. Oecologia 146, 68–76
- Cody, M. L. (1986a). SPACING IN MOJAVE DESERT PLANT-COMMUNITIES .2. PLANT SIZE AND DISTANCE RELATIONSHIPS. *Israel Journal of Botany*, *35*(2), 109-120.
- Cody, M. L. (1986b). SPACING PATTERNS IN MOJAVE DESERT PLANT-COMMUNITIES - NEAR-NEIGHBOR ANALYSES. Journal of Arid Environments, 11(3), 199-217.
- D'Antonio, C. M., & Vitousek, P. M. (1992). Biological invasions by exotic grasses, the grass/fire cycle, and global change. *Annual review of ecology and systematics*, 63-87.
- Dick, C. W. (2008). New interpretations of fine-scale spatial genetic structure.*Molecular* ecology, 17(8), 1873-1874.
- Dudash, M. R. (1993). Variation in pollen limitation among individuals of Sabatia angularis (Gentianaceae). *Ecology*, 959-962.

- English-Loeb, G. M., & Karban, R. (1992). Consequences of variation in flowering phenology for seed head herbivory and reproductive success in Erigeron glaucus (Compositae). *Oecologia*, 89(4), 588-595.
- Epanchin-Niell, R., Englin, J., & Nalle, D. (2009). Investing in rangeland restoration in the arid west, USA: countering the effects of an invasive weed on the long-term fire cycle. *Journal of Environmental Management*, *91*(2), 370-379.
- Esque, T. C., Kaye, J. P., Eckert, S. E., DeFalco, L. A., & Tracy, C. R. (2010). Short-term soil inorganic N pulse after experimental fire alters invasive and native annual plant production in a Mojave Desert shrubland. *Oecologia*, 164(1), 253-263.
- Esque, T. C., Schwalbe, C. R., Haines, D. F., & Halvorson, W. L. (2004). Saguaros under siege: invasive species and fire. *Desert Plants*, 20(1), 49-55.
- Fonteyn, P. J., & Mahall, B. E. (1981). An experimental analysis of structure in a desert plant community. *The Journal of Ecology*, 883-896.
- Gathmann, A., & Tscharntke, T. (2002). Foraging ranges of solitary bees. *Journal of Animal Ecology*, *71*(5), 757-764.
- Ghazoul, J. (2005). Pollen and seed dispersal among dispersed plants. *Biological Reviews*, 80(3), 413-443.
- Hadley, A. S., & Betts, M. G. (2012). The effects of landscape fragmentation on pollination
 dynamics: absence of evidence not evidence of absence. *Biological Reviews*, 87(3), 526-544.
- Hadley, N. F., & Szarek, S. R. (1981). Productivity of desert ecosystems. *BioScience*, *31*(10), 747-753.

- Haubensak, K., D'Antonio, C., & Wixon, D. (2009). Effects of fire and environmental variables on plant structure and composition in grazed salt desert shrublands of the Great Basin (USA). *Journal of arid environments*, *73*(6), 643-650.
- Hickman, James C., ed. 1993. The Jepson manual: Higher plants of California. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press. 1400 p. [21992]
- Holzapfel, C., & Mahall, B. E. (1999). Bidirectional facilitation and interference between shrubs and annuals in the Mojave Desert. *Ecology*, *80*(5), 1747-1761.

Jennersten, O. (1988). POLLINATION IN DIANTHUS-DELTOIDES (CARYOPHYLLACEAE) - EFFECTS OF HABITAT FRAGMENTATION ON VISITATION AND SEED SET. *Conservation Biology*, 2(4), 359-366.

Kay, B. L., & Graves, W. L. (1983). Revegetation and stabilization techniques for disturbed desert vegetation. In *Environmental effects of off-road vehicles* (pp. 325-340). Springer New York.

Kearney, T. H., & Peebles, R. H. (1960). Arizona flora. Univ of California Press.

- Kearns, C. A., & Inouye, D. S. (1997). Pollinators, flowering plants, and conservation biology -Much remains to be learned about pollinators and plants. *Bioscience*, *47*(5), 297-307.
- Kerstyn, A., & Stiling, P. (1999). The effects of burn frequency on the density of some grasshoppers and leaf miners in a Florida sandhill community. *Florida Entomologist*, 82(4), 499-505.
- Kremen, C., Williams, N. M., Aizen, M. A., Gemmill-Herren, B., LeBuhn, G., Minckley, R., & Ricketts, T. H. (2007). Pollination and other ecosystem services produced by mobile organisms: a conceptual framework for the effects of land-use change. *Ecology Letters*, *10*(4), 299-314.

- Kunin, W. E. (1993). Sex and the single mustard: population density and pollinator behavior effects on seed-set. *Ecology*, 2145-2160.
- Kunin, W. E. (1997). Population size and density effects in pollination: Pollinator foraging and plant reproductive success in experimental arrays of Brassica kaber. *Journal of Ecology*, 85(2), 225-234.
- Lennartsson, T. (2002). Extinction thresholds and disrupted plant-pollinator interactions in fragmented plant populations. *Ecology*, *83*(11), 3060-3072.
- Lloyd, D. G. (1992). Self-and cross-fertilization in plants. II. The selection of selffertilization. *International Journal of Plant Sciences*, 370-380.
- Marr DL, Leebens-Mack J, Elms L, Pellmyr O. 2000. Pollen dispersal in Yucca filamentosa (Agavaceae): the paradox of self-pollination behavior by Tegeticula yuccasella (Prodoxidae). American Journal of Botany 87: 670–677.
- Maxwell, C. G. 1971. The tree that is not a tree. American Forests. 77(3): 4-5. [5804]
- Michener, C. D. (2000). The bees of the world (Vol. 1). JHU Press.
- Minckley, R. L., Cane, J. H., Kervin, L., & Roulston, T. H. (1999). Spatial predictability and resource specialization of bees (Hymenoptera : Apoidea) at a superabundant, widespread resource. *Biological Journal of the Linnean Society*, 67(1), 119-147.
- Monson, R. K., Smith, S. D., Gehring, J. L., Bowman, W. D., & Szarek, S. R. (1992).
 Physiological differentiation within an Encelia farinosa population along a short topographic gradient in the Sonoran Desert. *Functional Ecology*, 751-759.
- Munz, Philip A. 1974. A flora of southern California. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press. 1086 p. [4924]
- Munz, P., & Keck, D. D. A. 1968. A California flora and supplement. Univ. Calif. Press,

Berkeley.

Munz, P. A., & Keck, D. D. (1959). A California Flora. Berkeley.

- Neary, D. G., Klopatek, C. C., DeBano, L. F., & Ffolliott, P. F. (1999). Fire effects on belowground sustainability: a review and synthesis. *Forest ecology and management*, 122(1), 51-71.
- Pellmyr, O. (2003). Yuccas, yucca moths, and coevolution: A review. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*, 90(1), 35-55.
- Pettersson, M. W. (1991). Flower herbivory and seed predation in Silene vulgaris (Caryophyllaceae): effects of pollination and phenology. *Ecography*,14(1), 45-50.
- Potts, S. G., Vulliamy, B., Dafni, A., Ne'eman, G., O'Toole, C., Roberts, S., et al. (2003).
 Response of plant-pollinator communities to fire: changes in diversity, abundance and floral reward structure. *Oikos, 101*(1), 103-112.
- Potts, S. G., Vulliamy, B., Roberts, S., O'Toole, C., Dafni, A., Ne'Eman, G., et al. (2005). Role of nesting resources in organising diverse bee communities in a Mediterranean landscape. *Ecological Entomology*, 30(1), 78-85.
- Powell, J. A. (1989). Synchronized, mass-emergences of a yucca moth, Prodoxus y-inversus (Lepidoptera: Prodoxidae), after 16 and 17 years in diapause. *Oecologia*, *81*(4), 490-493.
- Powell, J.A., 1992. INTERRELATIONSHIPS OF YUCCAS AND YUCCA MOTHS. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 7, 10-15.

Pyne, S., Andrews, P., Laven, R. (Eds.) (1996). Introduction to wildland fire. New York: Wiley

R Development Core Team (2008). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL http://www.R-project.org.

- Renner, S. S. 1998 Effects of habitat fragmentation on plant–pollinator interactions in the tropics. In Dynamics of tropical communities (ed. D. M. Newbery, H. H. T. Prins & N. D. Brown), pp. 339–360. Oxford: Blackwell Science.
- Richards, A. J. (1997). Plant breeding systems. Garland Science.
- Saunders, D. A., Hobbs, R. J., & Margules, C. R. (1991). Biological consequences of ecosystem fragmentation: a review. *Conservation biology*,5(1), 18-32.
- Skaug, H., Fournier, D., Nielsen, A., Magnusson, A., & Bolker, B. (2011). glmmADMB: generalized linear mixed models using AD Model Builder. *R package version 0.6, 5*, r143.
- Steffan-Dewenter, I., & Schiele, S. (2008). Do resources or natural enemies drive bee population dynamics in fragmented habitats. *Ecology*, 89(5), 1375-1387.
- Waldrop, T. A., White, D. L., & Jones, S. M. (1992). Fire regimes for pine-grassland communities in the southeastern United States. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 47(1), 195-210.
- Walker, L. R., & Powell, E. A. (1999). Effects of seeding on road revegetation in the Mojave Desert, southern Nevada. *Ecological Restoration*, 17(3), 150-155.
- Waser, N. M., Chittka, L., Price, M. V., Williams, N. M., & Ollerton, J. (1996). Generalization in pollination systems, and why it matters. *Ecology*, 77(4), 1043-1060.
- Webb, R. H. (2002). Recovery of severely compacted soils in the Mojave Desert, California, USA. Arid Land Research and Management, 16(3), 291-305.
- Welsh, S. L., Atwood, N. D., Goodrich, S., & Higgins, L. C. (1993). A Utah flora(No. Ed. 2).Brigham Young University.

- Westerling, A. L., Hidalgo, H. G., Cayan, D. R., & Swetnam, T. W. (2006). Warming and earlier spring increase western US forest wildfire activity. *Science*, *313*(5789), 940-943.
- White, G. C., & Bennetts, R. E. (1996). Analysis of frequency count data using the negative binomial distribution. *Ecology*, 2549-2557.
- Wilcock, C., & Neiland, R. (2002). Pollination failure in plants: why it happens and when it matters. *Trends in plant science*, *7*(6), 270-277.

Chapter 1: Tables

Plant species	Family	Sex of fl./plant	Breeding system	Specialization	Visitors		
Ambrosia dumosa	Asteraceae	perfect	SI	W	n/a		
Coleogyne ramosissima	Rosaceae	perfect	SI	W	n/a		
Larrea tridentata	Zygophyllaceae	perfect	SC(limited)	G	bees		
Encelia farinosa	Asteraceae	perfect	SI	G	bees, butterflies and moths		
Thamnosma montana	Rutaceae	perfect		G	butterflies, bees		
Krameria grayi	Krameriaceae	perfect	SI	S	bees, genus <i>Centris</i> (subg. <i>Paracentris</i>)		
Yucca brevifolia	Agavaceae	perfect		S	Yucca moths		
SI = self-incompatible, SC = self-compatible; W = wind pollinated, G = pollination							

Table 1.1 Floral characters, reproduction system, and flower visitors of study species.

generalist, S = pollination specialist

	Flow	wer Counts			
_	x ±	SE (n)	_ 7	$\mathbf{Dr}(\mathbf{z})$	
	Unburned	Burned	L	Pr(≥ z)	
WIND					
overall	485±94 (83)	1296±259 (50)	-3.21	0.001**	
2012 Ambrosia	384±156 (19)	1636±411 (13)	-2.01	0.044*	
2013 Ambrosia	1176±337 (18)	2438±665 (15)	-1.82	0.068	
2014 Ambrosia	90±35 (21)	249±127 (11)	-0.6	0.55	
2013 Coleogyne	394±88 (25)	383±117 (11)	-1.94	0.053	
GENERALIST					
overall	301±50 (158)	764±103 (158)	18.59	< 0.001***	
2012 Larrea	187±44 (23)	712±127 (23)	-3.54	0.00047**	
2013 Larrea	568±220 (27)	1173±356 (23)	-2.46	0.014*	
2014 Larrea	677±146 (26)	2398±444 (22)	-3.37	0.00074**	
2012 Encelia	11±5 (13)	25±8 (20)	-1.17	0.24	
2013 Encelia	60±16 (23)	75±18 (25)	-0.82	0.41	
2014 Encelia	35±10 (21)	43±12 (21)	-0.04	0.97	
2013 Thamnosma	325±75 (25)	890±104 (24)	-4.78	1.8e-06***	
SPECIALIST					
overall	365±62 (75)	444±83 (50)	-1.85	0.06	
2013 Krameria	226±79 (25)	82±67 (13)	0.42	0.67	
2014 Krameria	6±2.49 (25)	6±2.79 (15)	-0.14	0.89	
2013 Yucca	862±111 (25)	959±114 (22)	-0.58	0.56	

Table 1.2 Statistical summaries of glmmADMB mixed-effects linear models evaluating flower, fruit, and seed:ovule ratios in unburned and burned edge areas.

	$ar{\mathbf{X}}$ ±			
	Unburned Burned		Z	Pr(> z)
WIND				
overall	202±49 (83)	188±61 (50)	0.24	0.81
2012 Ambrosia	8±6 (19)	80±20 (13)	-7.04	1.9e-12***
2013 Ambrosia	56±15 (18)	72±24 (15)	-1.17	0.24
2014 Ambrosia	1±0.5 (21)	5±3 (11)	-0.97	0.3303
2013 Coleogyne	622±127 (25)	655±233 (11)	-0.67	0.5
GENERALIST				
overall	281±43 (183)	736±88 (182)	16.24	<1e-04***
2012 Larrea	483±137 (23)	2278±366 (23)	-4.87	1.1e-06***
2013 Larrea	521±160 (27)	601±195 (23)	-0.32	0.75
2014 Larrea	456±180 (26)	1323±343 (22)	-1.65	0.098
2012 Encelia	16±7 (13)	32±13 (20)	-1.3	0.19
2013 Encelia	89±54 (23)	9±6 (25)	2.83	0.0047**
2014 Encelia	9±3 (21)	22±13 (21)	0.13	0.899
2013 Thamnosma	405±87 (25)	1197±117 (24)	-4.2	2.6e-05***
2014 Thamnosma	72±19 (25)	356±65 (24)	-4.2	2.6e-05***
SPECIALIST				
overall	65±13 (95)	68±9 (66)	-0.19	0.85
2012 Krameria	164±49 (20)	110±28 (16)	0.01	0.99
2013 Krameria	18±10 (25)	23±23 (13)	-0.13	0.9
2014 Krameria	4±2.2 (25)	1.06±1 (15)	-0.23	0.82
2013 Yucca	92±14 (25)	110±15 (22)	-0.93	0.35
	S	S/O Ratio		
	x ±	- SE (n)	Z	Pr(> z)

	Unburned	Burned		
WIND				
overall	0.0058±0.003 (510)	0.01±0.002 (3677)	-0.09	0.93
2012 Ambrosia	0.008±0.005 (380)	0.01±0.002 (3528)	-0.88	0.38
2013 Ambrosia	0±0 (130)	0±0 (149)	0	1
GENERALIST				
overall	0.53±0.005 (9265)	0.5±0.005 (8968)	8.53	<1e-04***
2012 Larrea	0.79±0.006 (4000)	0.73±0.007 (4000)	5.93	3e-09***
2013 Larrea	0.10±0.013 (1386)	0.36±.014 (1187)	-2.32	0.02*
2012 Encelia	0.37±0.009 (3146)	0.3±0.008 (3168)	-1.11	0.26
2013 Encelia	0.21±0.01 (733)	0.29±0.02 (613)	-2.82	0.0048**
SPECIALIST				
overall	0.64±0.005 (6453)	0.65±0.007 (4007)	-11.05	<1e-05***
2012 Krameria	0.04±0.008 (611)	0.07±0.02 (130)	-1.35	0.18
2013 Krameria	0.06±0.02 (176)	0±0 (19)	0.04	0.96
2013 Yucca	0.72±0.006 (5666)	0.67±.008 (3858)	5.17	2.4e-07***

Significance designated as *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

	Flower C	Counts		
	x ±	SE (n)	- 7	.
	Burned Edge	Isolated Burn	Z	Pr(≥ z)
WIND				
overall	-	-	-	-
GENERALIST				
overall	764±103 (115)	674±151 (117)	-0.7	0.48
2013 Larrea	1173±356 (23)	484±166 (25)	-1.34	0.18
2014 Larrea	2398±444 (22)	2145±590 (25)	-0.29	0.78
2013 Encelia	75±18 (25)	37±12 (25)	-1.11	0.27
2014 Encelia	43±12 (21)	11±4 (17)	-1.85	0.056
2013 Thamnosma	890±104 (24)	482±142 (25)	-0.5	0.62
SPECIALIST				
overall	959±114 (22)	1101±161 (24)	0.28	0.78
2013 Yucca	959±114 (22)	1101±161 (24)	0.28	0.78
	Fruit Co	ounts		
	$ar{\mathbf{X}} \pm$	SE (n)		
	Burned Edge	Isolated Burn	Z	Pr(> z)
WIND				
overall	-	-	-	-
GENERALIST				
overall	736±88 (139)	529±86 (141)	-1.04	0.3
2013 Larrea	601±195 (23)	188±90 (25)	-1.42	0.16
2014 Larrea	1323±343 (22)	859±377 (25)	-0.39	0.69

Table 1.3 Statistical summaries of glmmADMB mixed-effects linear models evaluating flower and fruit counts in burned edges and isolated burned areas by species and year.

2013 Encelia	9±6 (25)	7±4 (25)	-0.4	0.69	
2014 Encelia	22±13 (21)	2±0.72 (17)	-0.88	0.379	
2013 Thamnosma	1197±117 (24)	1454±151 (25)	1.24	0.21	
2014 Thamnosma	356±65 (24)	356±65 (24) 495±69 (24)		0.13	
SPECIALIST					
overall	110±15 (22)	122±20 (24)	0.6	0.55	
2013 Yucca	110±15 (22)	122±20 (24)	0.6	0.55	_

Significance designated as *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

Table 1.4 Percent change in flower, fruit, and seed:ovule ratios across years, within unburned and burned edge areas. UB-UB = comparison of unburned areas; B-B = comparison of burned edge areas.

Species/Year	Flower		Fr	uit	S/O		
	UB - UB	UB-UB B-B		UB - UB B - B		B - B	
Ambrosia							
2012-2013	+206%	+49%***	+605%***	+873%***	-100%	-100%	
2013-2014	-92%	-89%*	-98%	-92%			
Larrea							
2012-2013	+203%	+64%***	+7%	-73%	-87%***	-50%***	
2013-2014	+19%	+104%	-12%	+120%			
Encelia							
2012-2013	+445%	+200%***	+456%*	-71%***	-43%***	-3%**	
2013-2014	-41%	-42%	-89%	+144%			
Krameria							
2012-2013	-	-	-89%	-79%***	+50%	-100%	
2013-2014	-97%	-92%***	-77%	-95%			

Significance designated as *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

Table 1.5 Mean shrub density and percent cover, with associated standard error values for each study species, with estimated flower and fruit production per m² based on plant density changes in unburned, burned edge, and isolated burned locations.

	Density			Cover			Flower			Fruit		
	Unburn	Burn	Isolated Burn	Unburn	Burn	Isolated Burn	Unburn	Burn	Isolated Burn	Unburn	Burn	Isolated Burned
a i	plants	plants	plants	cover	cover	cover	flower/	flower/	flower/	fruit/	fruit/	fruit/
Species	plot ⁻¹	plot⁻¹	plot ⁻¹	(%)	(%)	(%)	m ²	m^2	m^2	m ²	m^2	m^2
Ambrosia	4.9±0.48	1.36±0.38	0	4.8±4.1	1.3±4.1*	0	2.98	2.08	0	1.2	0.82	0
Coleogyne	12.8±0.33	0.31±0.27*	0	30±4.9	0.7±5.1*	0	55.61	1.41	0	87.79	2.41	0
Larrea	2.7±0.18	0.59±0.17*	0.08±0.13*+	20±6	2.4±4.3*	0.3±3.4	8.36	2.08	1.67	8.41	2.06	0.66
Encelia	0.5±0.27	0.78±0.28	0.24±0.21	1±3.8	1.2±3.5	0.2±3	0.17	0.25	0.03	0.18	0.1	0.006
Thamnosma	3.15±0.27	0.42±0.15*	1.08±0.13*+	5.3±3.7	0.6±2.2*	1.4±3.2+	8.03	2.13	3.43	5.91	1.86	7.01
Krameria	2.4±0.22	0.31±0.16*	0	4.7±3.4	0.3±2*	0	0.5	0.007	0	0.24	0.008	0
Yucca	1.55±0.22	0.14±0.18*	0.66±0.38+	6.4±5.4	1±6.1*	0.6±4	6.58	0.88	0.56	0.7	0.1	0.06

Significance designated as P < 0.05 for comparisons with unburned control plots, and P < 0.05 to indicated statistical significant

between burned edge and isolated burned area comparisons.

Chapter 1: Figures



Fig. 1.1 Map of Beaver Dam Wash (N37.14, W114.03) study site. Transect lines in four independent burns (white) were paired with adjacent unburned transects (black). Isolated burn transect lines (light grey) were only established in the Westide fire. Study area denoted by black rectangle in southwest corner of Utah.



Fig. 1.2 Mean flower and fruit counts, and seed:ovule ratios for wind, generalist, and specialist pollinated plants in unburned (black bars), burned edges (light grey bars), and isolated burned (dark grey bars) areas \pm standard error values with '*' indicating significance at α =.05.

Chapter 2: Fire differentially affects reproductive output and flower herbivory in two dominant *Yucca (Agavaceae)* species

Summary

Plants that depend on pollinator mutualisms may be at risk of experiencing reproductive failure if interactions with pollinators are hindered or lost. Currently the size, frequency and severity of wildfires and ungulate herbivory pressure are increasing at a global scale, including arid ecosystems that exhibit great sensitivity to disturbance. To understand how fire and ungulate herbivory affect reproductive success of specialist pollinated desert plants, we quantified the sexual reproductive effort, success, pollinator visitation, and proportion of floral consumption by ungulate herbivores for two yucca species (Yucca baccata, and Yucca brevifolia) in burned and unburned areas of the Mojave Desert. Wildfire and herbivore effects on plant reproduction were assessed comparing the proportion of flowering plants and floral herbivory, pollinator collections, and the number of flowers and fruits produced per plant in burned and unburned areas. These were assessed in the spring of 2013 and 2014 along paired burned-unburned transects and a grid of survey transects positioned across multiple independent fires that occurred in the Beaver Dam Wash of the Mojave Desert in 2005. Fire increased the proportion of Y. baccata flowering plants from 12% to 22% in burned areas, but had no effect on the number of flowers or fruits produced per plant for Y. baccata or Y. brevifolia. Fruit set and pollinator collection failed at all sampled Y. baccata individuals, while fire and herbivory had no effect on Y. brevifolia flower, fruit, and pollinator collection. Herbivores consumed 50% and 67% of floral stalks produced by Y. baccata in unburned and burned areas. Herbivores pose a clear threat to successful sexual reproduction in Y. baccata. Contrasting responses to ungulate herbivory between Y. baccata and Y. brevifolia may be due to morphological differences that position Y.

brevifolia reproductive tissues out of the reach of herbivores. Removal of ungulate herbivores during important flowering periods may still result in failed fruit and seed production if local pollinator reserves have been drastically reduced or lost.

1. Introduction

Pollinator mutualisms are fundamental to sexual reproduction in a majority of flowering plants species (Linder 1998; Renner 1998; Ackerman 2000; Pellmyr 2002). To attract pollinators, plant reproductive structures are conspicuous relative to other tissues (Fenster et al. 2004). Floral rewards consist of nectar, pollen, or edible parts, and advertisements include vibrant and specific floral colors and shapes with characteristic fragrances. However, plants are simultaneously subject to multiple selective pressures, and substantial resource allocation to attractive flower displays could be detrimental to plant fitness if displays entice harmful interactions, such as herbivory. Herbivore damage to plant foliar and reproductive tissues pose a threat to pollination services and can inhibit plant sexual reproduction (Hendrix 1988; Strauss et al. 2004). Direct consumption of flowers, fruits, and seeds can reduce reproductive success when structures are consumed or damaged to a degree that they fail to attract pollinators or sufficiently nurture potential propagules (Krupnick et al. 1999; Gómez and Zamora 2000; Mothershead and Marquis 2000).

Mutualistic and antagonistic interactions between plants and animals can be differentially affected by habitat disturbances that reduce plant population densities. Plant isolation can decrease sexual reproductive success directly through interference of plant-pollinator interactions (Kunin 1997; Groom 2001). Successful pollination is related both to the number of, and distance between flowers (Kunin 1997; Bosch and Waser 1999; Waites and Agren 2004). Fewer plants

across a landscape reduces the amount of pollen available for successful outcrossing, and requires pollinators to travel greater distances between plants. In addition, increasing isolation can affect plant herbivory, intensifying or reducing consumption in disturbed areas (Groom 2001; Kolb 2008). The overall outcome of these interactions may be determined by the strength of the relationships between plants and their associated mutualists and antagonists.

Plant dependence on animal pollinators varies widely between species. Plants that depend on one or a few related taxa for pollination services may be at greater risk of experiencing reproductive failure when interactions with pollinators are hindered or lost (Bond 1994). Pollinators involved in these specialized plant-pollinator associations generally deliver higher quality pollen loads than floral generalist (i.e., plants pollinated by a wider taxonomic variety of species). Currently no empirical evidence suggests that specialist plants are more likely to experience Allee effects or risk of extinction resulting from habitat disturbances (Aizen et al. 2002; Ghazoul 2005). Lack of support may be due to an absence of symmetric plant-pollinator relationships (i.e., relationships defined by a specialist plant and specialist pollinator) that have been evaluated in nature (Ashworth et al. 2004 and references therein). Analysis of disturbance effects on pollinator visitation and plant reproductive success in highly specialized plantpollinator relationships, such as those utilized by *Yucca (Agavaceae)* species and their associated yucca-moth pollinators (*Tegeticula* and *Parategiticula*) is currently lacking.

Human activities are increasing the size, frequency and severity of wildfires and ungulate herbivory pressure at a global scale (Weisburg and Bugmann 2003; Hebblewhite et al. 2005; Bowman et al. 2009), including arid ecosystems that exhibit great sensitivity to disturbance. In the Mojave, Great Basin and Sonoran Deserts the frequency and size of wildfires has surged in recent decades due to the invasion of exotic annual grasses (Schmid and Rogers 1988; Brooks et

al. 2004; Bukowski and Baker 2013). Grass invasions have been associated with livestock herbivory (D'Antonio and Vitousek 1992). Herbivory pressure in arid and semiarid regions of North America has increased with the introduction of livestock, significantly impacting plant communities through reductions in total vegetation biomass as well as grass and shrub cover (Jones 2000). Plant reproduction can be severely impacted by the direct consumption of reproductive tissues when livestock occupy desert ranges during plant flowering seasons (Kerley et al. 1993). While fire and ungulate herbivory independently threaten the resilience of native desert communities, the interactive effect of these disturbances on plant reproductive success in arid systems has not previously been evaluated (Brooks 2000; Jones 2000). Because herbivore foraging intensity can shift based on changes in plant density (Groom 2001; Kolb 2008), and wildfires reduce native vegetation (McLaughlin and Bowers 1982), it is possible that fire disturbances may indirectly affect the reproduction of surviving or regenerating vegetation in burned areas. It is unclear however, if changes in available forage will increase or relieve herbivore pressure on plants in burned areas. Herbivore effects on plant communities may be determined by a complex of variables such as plant palatability, nutritional value, and tolerance and animal population size and behavior (Augustine and McNaughton 1998). Overlapping increases in ungulate herbivory and wildfire provide an opportunity to understand how interacting disturbances influence pollination mutualisms and the reproductive success of plant species.

With the global increase of wildfires and their predicted expansion under future climate scenarios (Lenihan et al. 2003, IPCC 2007), coinciding with ungulate populations there is a critical need to better understand wildfire and herbivory effects on plant reproductive systems. Herein we characterize pollinator visitation, floral herbivory and plant reproductive success of

Yucca brevifolia and *Yucca baccata*, two species with highly specialized pollinator mutualisms, in adjacent burned and unburned habitats of the northeastern Mojave Desert to address the following questions: 1) Is there significant floral herbivory by ungulates in desert systems and is it modified by fire? 2) Does fire influence yucca moth visitation to *Yucca* flower panicles? 2) Do plant reproductive responses to fire and herbivory vary between two dominant yucca species with contrasting growth forms?

2. Methods

2.1 Study location

This study was carried out in the Beaver Dam Wash (BDW) in the Mojave Desert of southwestern Utah during the summer of 2013. The northeastern region of the Mojave Desert is characterized by low growing perennial shrubs (Cody 1986a, 1986b). The dominant flora consists of Blackbrush (*Coleogyne ramosissima*), creosote bush (*Larrea tridentata*), white bursage (*Ambrosia dumosa*), Joshua tree (*Yucca brevifolia*) and Datil Yucca (*Yucca baccata*). The landscape has experienced large-scale fires in recent years and invasive species including red-stem filaree (*Erodium cicutarum*) and the winter annual red brome (*Bromus rubens*) are ubiquitous across the landscape. Sampling transects were located along three individual fires that occurred in the summer of 2005: Westside (June, 27,059 ha), Burgess 1 (July, 60 ha), and Burgess 2 (July, 712 ha) (Utah Bureau of Land Management).

2.2 Study species

Yucca species vary in size from small rosettes to large, arborescent plants, all producing panicle inflorescences containing tens to hundreds of flowers pollinated by yucca moths. *Yucca*

baccata Torr. (Agavaceae), (hereafter referred to as '*Y. baccata*') is a widespread native perennial shrub, distributed across American southwestern states and northern Mexico (Hasting et al. 1972). The leaves are densely clustered around the stem near the ground and consist of concave, rigid structures that support recurved fibers along the margins and end with a stiff spine at the apex. Flowers are produced in dense panicles found mostly among the leaves. Reproduction is possible through successful pollen transfer and the propagation of basal nodules and sprouts from rhizomes.

Yucca brevifolia Engelm. (hereafter referred to as '*Y. brevifolia*') is an arborescent species that can reach heights greater than 5 m. Its range generally follows Mojave Desert boundaries from southwestern Utah into southern Nevada, western Arizona, and into southeastern California (Kearney and Peebles 1960; Munz 1974; Welsh et al. 1993). Tree size and growth form often vary with site and climate conditions (Maxwell 1971; Munz 1974; Hickman 1993). Flowers occur in dense, heavy panicles (Johnson 1970; Hickman 1993). Seed production is periodic or rare, and wet years are suggested as best for flowering and fruit production (Maxwell 1971; Kliemann 1979).

All species of *Yucca* (Agavaceae) are pollinated by moth species in the genera *Tegiticula* and *Parategiticula* (Proxidae), and the biology and activity patterns of the distinct *Y. baccata* and *Y. brevifolia* pollinator species are similar (Pellmyr 2003). After emerging from pupation near the base of yucca plants, female moths collect pollen, and fly to another panicle. Eggs are oviposited into the ovary of a new flower, which is then followed by deposition of pollen on the stigmatic surface. Maturation of the flower into fruit is vital for the survival of the developing larvae, which feed exclusively on yucca seeds. Not all seeds are consumed, allowing both the *Yucca* and yucca moth to reproduce (Powell 1992).

2.3 Reproduction and herbivory survey

Two sample methods were used to characterize the number of flowers, fruits, and floral panicles produced and consumed for each species. For Y. brevifolia flower and fruit counts were collected along five 1 km transect pairs positioned along adjacent burned per unburned boundaries (Fig. 2.1). Transect pairs were positioned 200m on either side of a burn boundary. We selected a Y. brevifolia individual in closest proximity to each 200m increment marker along all transects (5 plants per transect). Individual plants were marked with a specific rounded aluminum numerical identification tag and a GPS waypoint was taken so we could repeatedly monitor the same individuals. To limit selection bias, all individuals were chosen before any flowering had occurred. Y. brevifolia flower and fruit counts were conducted from March-June of 2013. Flower panicles for each plant were counted during the peak flowering period. Average flower per panicle counts were determined by removing 2 panicles from each of 5 individual plants (outside of the study) in both burned and unburned areas and counting the number of flowers contained therein. Total flower counts per plant were then calculated by multiplying the total number of panicles by the average number of flowers per panicle as calculated above. Fruit counts were completed 2-3 weeks after flowering had ceased; due to their large distinct size, all fruits were counted.

Observation suggested the occurrence of floral herbivory in *Y. Brevifolia*, but only rarely, making it necessary to extend our survey beyond the paired transects to get enough observations to accurately determine herbivory frequency. We set up an additional 12 transects in unburned and burned locations spread 2.5 km apart to get broad survey coverage across the landscape.

To assess flowering, fruit set and browsing proportion for *Y. baccata*, a grid of 29 survey transects was established across the Beaver Dam Wash (16 in burned landscapes and 14 in unburned areas). Site selection was standardized by distance, each spaced approximately 2.5 kilometers from each other to get even coverage across the Beaver Dam Wash. The survey was conducted the first two weeks of June 2013 after cattle were removed from the landscape (June 1, 2013). At each site plants were evaluated to determine whether they had flowered and if those that had flowered had been damaged or removed. Flower per panicle counts for *Y. baccata* were determined by obtaining flower counts on 30 panicles to generate an average flower count per panicle for the species. To experimentally control for ungulate browsing we placed wire fence approximately 2m tall, around 10 *Y. baccata* (5 in burned areas, 5 in unburned locations) at various locations across our sampling grid that allowed access to small, but not large, mammals.

2.4 Yucca moth trapping

Sticky traps were used to assess pollinator visitation to flowers of both *Yucca* species. Traps were installed on ten *Y. baccata* plants within the exclosures described above. *Y. baccata* traps were created by cutting an office file folder into rectangles (approximately 3x20cm). A single rectangular "tag" was then attached to a panicle stalk at half the panicle height using a zip tie. Tangle trap natural insect trapping adhesive (BioQuip products) was applied to trap surfaces to ensure any insect that landed on the trap, or that brushed the surface while moving from flower to flower on the panicle would be trapped. *Y. brevifolia* traps were similar to *Y. baccata* traps, but were bowed and fastened together at the ends to form a cylinder which could then be placed around a single panicle. Tangle trap was applied to the inside of the cylinder. Twenty-five of the initial 58 traps were destroyed or lost due to high winds and storm weather, resulting in 33 total traps (13 unburned, 20 burned). Traps were positioned on panicles containing open,

sexually receptive flowers for two week trapping periods. *Y. brevifolia* moth trapping occurred from 25 March – 5 April of 2013, and *Y. baccata* trapping was completed from 15 April – 26 April 2014.

2.5 Statistical analysis

Mixed-effects linear models were used to examine fire and herbivore effects on flower, fruit and moth abundance proportions using either Automatic Differentiation Model Builder (glmmADMB) or lme4: Linear mixed-effects models using Eigen and S4. Automatic Differentiation Model Builder fits mixed effects models to count data using Poisson or negative binomial response distributions (Skaug et al. 2011), and lme4 was used to analyze normally distributed, equal variance data sets (Bates et al. 2014). In our mixed-effects models burn type and herbivory proportions were specified as fixed effects; sample site was specified as a random effect to account for uncontrolled landscape variation. The proportion of flowering plants and flower set per plant for Y. baccata, and herbivory proportions for Y. brevifolia were modeled using the lme4 package. Moth visitations per panicle for both yucca species were square root transformed to meet assumptions of normality and therefore modeled using the lme4 package. Flower and fruit set per plant for *Y. brevifolia* were modeled with a negative binomial distribution using the glmmADMB package, which fits biological count data well, and provides greater flexibility in evaluating a variety of patterns in animal or plant distributions (White and Bennetts 1996). Herbivory proportions of *Y. baccata* were evaluated using a binomial distribution in glmmADMB due to the binary response (eaten = 1, not eaten = 0) that results from the production of only a single panicle of flowers per plant. Assumptions of normality and homoscedasticity for each model, were inspected using comparisons of variance and residual plots (e.g. histogram, scatterplot, and gqnorm of residuals), and the best fit model distributions

were determined based on log-likelihood values. All calculations, models, assumption analyses and determinations of statistical significance were performed using program R software language and environment for statistical computing (R Development Core Team 2008).

3. Results

3.1 Fire effect on Yucca reproductive effort and success

Fire nearly doubled the proportion of *Y. baccata* plants that produced flowers in burned compared to unburned areas (12% vs. 22%) (p<0.001; Fig. 2.2, Table 2.2). However, the proportion of *Y. baccata* individuals that produced fruits was zero for both burned and unburned areas, despite the significant increase in floral production within burned areas. Even panicles protected by ungulate exclosures failed to set fruit in burned or unburned areas, resulting in complete reproductive failure for all *Y. baccata* plants surveyed.

Fire had no effect on the number of flowers produced per plant for *Y. baccata* or *Y. breviolia* (Fig. 2.3, Tables 2.1 and 2.2). Although flowering *Y. baccata* individuals failed to produce fruits, *Y. brevifolia* fruit production was successful in burned and unburned areas and fire had no effect on the number of fruits produced per plant (Fig. 2.3, Table 2.1).

3.2 Flower herbivory

Herbivores effected plant reproduction very differently for each *Yucca* species. Half of all *Y. baccata* flowers produced in unburned areas were significantly damaged or eaten, and floral consumption increased 17% in burned areas (50% vs. 67%) (p<0.001; Fig. 2.4, Table 2.1). Herbivory of *Y. brevifolia* panicles was rare and did not differ between burned and unburned areas (Fig. 2.4, Table 2.2).

3.3 Fire effect on yucca moth visitation

Moth visits varied strongly between *Yucca* species and were not affected by fire. *Y. baccata* traps failed to indicate any pollinator visitation, with counts of zero for both burned and unburned areas (Fig. 2.5). *Y. brevifolia* traps indicated that moth visits in burned and unburned areas were not significantly different (Fig. 2.5, Table 2.2).

4. Discussion

4.1 Fire effects on Yucca reproductive effort

Fire enhanced *Yucca* reproductive effort by increasing the proportion of *Y. baccata* individuals that produced flowers in 2013 from 12% in unburned areas to 22% in burned landscapes (Fig. 2.2). Flower production requires substantial allocation of carbon, nutrient, and water resources, and may therefore be considered a high-risk investment (Bloom et al. 1985). Due to these high costs plants in resource-poor environments, such as deserts (Hadley and Szarek 1981), may not initiate flower production until specific resource thresholds have been met (Beatley 1974). The high proportion of flowering *Y. baccata* individuals in burned areas may be due to positive responses of surviving or regenerating plants in these areas to post-fire burn conditions. Plants surviving in burned landscapes experience shifts in environmental conditions (Webb et al. 2009), and reductions in soil resource competition due to decreased plant density following wildfires (Brisson and Reynolds 1994; Holzapfel and Mahall 1999). Increased carbon metabolism, nutrient acquisition and improved water relations have been recorded for surviving vegetation in post-wildfire desert landscapes (Horn et al. in review).

4.2 Fire and herbivory effects on Yucca reproductive structures

Herbivores consumed substantial proportions of *Y. baccata* panicles in both burned and unburned areas of the Beaver Dam Wash in 2013 (Fig. 2.4). In burned areas 67% of floral stalks produced by *Y. baccata* individuals were eaten by ungulate herbivores. Much higher proportions have been observed for *Y. elata* populations in southern New Mexico, reporting 98% of floral stalk consumption at sites where livestock were allowed access to plants during the flowering season (Kerley et al. 1993). Cattle have been reported to fight over and even stand on their hind legs to reach *Y. elata* flowers, and both floral and foliar tissue have composed up to 70% of livestock diets during dry winter and spring seasons (Herbel and Nelson 1966). Despite high levels of *Y. elata* floral consumption, Kerley et al. (1993) also reported that caudices produced above 1.7m in height suffered no flower grazing by livestock. This apparent "height escape" may explain why floral herbivory varied so drastically between *Y. baccata* and *Y. brevifolia* individuals (Fig. 2.4).

Variation in floral herbivory between *Y. baccata* and *Y. brevifolia* is most likely the result of different growth form strategies. Mature *Y. brevifolia* heights can range from 6-9m, and the earliest flowers are not usually produced until plants have reached 2.5-3m in height (McKelvey 1935). Browsing for many ungulates is limited to heights <2m, suggesting that low herbivory proportions for *Y. brevifolia* compared to *Y. baccata* might be explained by taller branch heights, which separate the majority of flowers produced by *Y. brevifolia* from the reach of herbivores (Kay 1990; Kerley et al. 1993; Zamora et al. 2001). It is possible that the towering heights reached by *Y. brevifolia* are the vestige of a growth escape strategy from now extinct megaherbivores. Analysis of the Shasta ground sloth (*Nothrotheriops shastensis* Sinclair) dung suggests that *Y. brevifolia* was a primary component of the megaherbivore's diet (Harrington 1933; Laudermilk and Munz 1934). Understanding what other selective advantage(s) a desert succulent gains by reaching such unusual heights is perplexing at best. The structural resource requirements and consequential lowering of xylem water potential associated with greater height represent a costly investment, especially in an ecosystem characterized by low water and soil resource availability and little to no light limitation (Hadley and Szarek 1981). It is possible that increased height may facilitate water storage in the stem or the avoidance of light limitation, high surface temperatures, or wildfires however, these benefits might well be accomplished with a lower average vertical growth than is currently reported for the species. Although further testing and analyses are required to better understand why *Y. brevifolia* grows much taller than other Mojave Desert shrubs and related *Yucca* species, the high positioning of flower panicles associated with taller individuals best explains the distinct patterns of herbivory observed between the study species.

4.3 Fire effects on *Yucca* reproductive success and yucca moth floral visitation

Contrasting proportions of fruit set for *Y. baccata* and *Y. brevifolia* emphasize the high potential risk often associated with plants that utilize specialized pollinators. Additionally, the differential responses observed in this study reiterate the importance of evaluating effects on both plants and their associated pollinators when predicting plant reproductive responses to habitat disturbances (Ashworth et al. 2004). *Y. brevifolia* individuals in burned areas had approximately the same proportion of fruits per plant and moths visits as plants in unburned areas, despite lower densities in post-fire landscapes (Horn et al. in review), which can result in lower reproductive success (Kunin 1997). The flight ability of yucca moths appears limited, with 80% of pollen transfers occurring within 8m of the source plant for *Y. filamentosa* (Agavaceae) (Marr et al. 2000), suggesting moths in burned areas were residents, not colonists, of such areas. Ground nesting solitary bees are largely expected to survive the immediate effects of fire (Cane

and Neff 2011), and the same may be true for yucca moths, which also "nest" underground in cocoons while in diapause (Pellmyr 2003), but further tests are required to determine moth survivability following desert wildfires.

The complete failure of *Y. baccata* fruit set and lack of moth visitation demonstrate the consequential impact that disrupted specialized plant-pollinator interactions can have on plant reproductive success. It is possible that fruits were produced and aborted, but selective fruit abortion in *Yuccas* is often the result of resource, not pollinator limitation (Udovic and Aker 1981; James et al. 1994). Fruits may also be aborted to mitigate seed consumption in pollinating seed-eating systems when the cost of lost seed outweigh the benefits of pollination (Pellmyr and Huth 1994; Shapiro and Addicott 2004), however, the absence of yucca moths from sticky traps, coupled with two years of failed fruit production, suggests *Y. baccata* panicles were not successfully pollinated (Fig. 2.3 and 2.5).

High levels of ungulate herbivory contributed to the reproductive failure of *Y. baccata* in both burned and unburned areas (Fig. 2.4). The lack of yucca moth pollinators most likely contributed to the failure of undamaged panicles to successfully set fruit in 2013 and 2014. When high proportions of flowers are consumed by herbivores, yucca moth reproduction may fail, depleting the abundance of future pollinators. Low pollinator abundance coupled with the limited foraging ranges associated with yucca moths may explain why undamaged *Y. baccata* flowers failed to be pollinated. If ungulate herbivores were removed to allow flowering to occur unhindered, successful fruit set may still not occur if local reserves of diapausing larvae have been drastically reduced or lost. Such vulnerability can result from specialization characterized by a high degree of mutual dependence when a component species on either the plant or pollinator side of a relationship is lost (Bond 1995; Kearns et al. 1998).

Management implications

Ecological disturbances affect plant-pollinator interactions in various ways (Kearns et al. 1998 and references therein). Evidence provided here indicate the danger that ungulate herbivores can be to plant seed production. Temporarily excluding large ungulates from *Yucca* populations during peak flowering periods may provide the necessary opportunity for disrupted plant-pollinator interactions to recover. Additionally, fire is considered a major threat to the maintenance of arid ecosystem processes and the conservation of native plants and animals in the Mojave Desert (Lovich and Bainbridge 1999). Although fire is not reported to affect plant reproductive success here, the occurance of fire disturbance is most likely going to intensify, and the persistence of plant populations will therefore be more dependent on pollinators successfully transfering pollen across increasingly fragmented landscapes (Amarasekare 2004; Westerling et al. 2006).

- Ackerman, J. D. (2000). Abiotic pollen and pollination: ecological, functional, and evolutionary perspectives. In *Pollen and Pollination* (pp. 167-185). Springer Vienna.
- Aizen, M. A., Ashworth, L., & Galetto, L. (2002). Reproductive success in fragmented habitats:
 do compatibility systems and pollination specialization matter?. *Journal of Vegetation Science*, *13*(6), 885-892.
- Amarasekare P. 2004. Spatial dynamics of mutualistic interactions. *J. Anim. Ecol.* 73:128-42 American Journal of Botany 86, 871–879.
- Ashworth, L., Aguilar, R., Galetto, L., & Aizen, M. A. (2004). Why do pollination generalist and specialist plant species show similar reproductive susceptibility to habitat fragmentation? *Journal of Ecology*, 92(4), 717-719.
- Augustine, D. J., & McNaughton, S. J. (1998). Ungulate effects on the functional species composition of plant communities: herbivore selectivity and plant tolerance. *The Journal* of wildlife management, 1165-1183.
- Bates, D., Eigen, C., & Rcpp, L. (2014). Package 'lme4'
- Beatley, J. C. (1974). Phenological events and their environmental triggers in Mojave Desert ecosystems. *Ecology*, 856-863.
- Bloom, A. J., Chapin, F. S., & Mooney, H. A. (1985). Resource limitation in plants--an economic analogy. *Annual review of Ecology and Systematics*, 363-392.

- Bond, W. J. (1994). Do mutualisms matter? Assessing the impact of pollinator and disperser disruption on plant extinction. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London. Series B: Biological Sciences*, 344(1307), 83-90.
- Bond, W. J. (1995). Assessing the risk of plant extinction due to pollinator and disperser failure. *Extinction rates*, 131-140.
- Bosch, M., & Waser, N. M. (1999). Effects of local density on pollination and reproduction in Delphinium nuttallianum and Aconitum columbianum (Ranunculaceae). *American Journal of Botany*, 86(6), 871-879.
- Bowman, D. M., Balch, J. K., Artaxo, P., Bond, W. J., Carlson, J. M., Cochrane, M. A., & Pyne,S. J. (2009). Fire in the Earth system. *science*, *324*(5926), 481-484.
- Brisson, J., & Reynolds, J. F. (1994). The effect of neighbors on root distribution in a creosotebush (Larrea tridentata) population. *Ecology*, 1693-1702.
- BROOKS, M. L., C. M. D'ANTONIO, D. M. RICHARDSON, J. B. GRACE, J. E. KEELEY, J.M. DITOMASO, R. J. HOBBS, M. PELLANT, AND D. PYKE. 2004. Effects of invasive alien plants on fire regimes. Bioscience 54:677–688.
- Brooks, M.L., 2000. Competition between alien annual grasses and native annual plants in the Mojave Desert. American Midland Naturalist 144, 92–108.
- Bukowski, B. E., & Baker, W. L. (2013). Historical fire in sagebrush landscapes of the Gunnison sage-grouse range from land-survey records. *Journal of Arid Environments*, *98*, 1-9.

- Cane, J. H., & Neff, J. L. (2011). Predicted fates of ground-nesting bees in soil heated by wildfire: Thermal tolerances of life stages and a survey of nesting depths. *Biological Conservation*, 144(11), 2631-2636.
- Cody, M. L. (1986a). SPACING IN MOJAVE DESERT PLANT-COMMUNITIES .2. PLANT SIZE AND DISTANCE RELATIONSHIPS. *Israel Journal of Botany*, *35*(2), 109-120.
- Cody, M. L. (1986b). SPACING PATTERNS IN MOJAVE DESERT PLANT-COMMUNITIES - NEAR-NEIGHBOR ANALYSES. Journal of Arid Environments, 11(3), 199-217.
- D'Antonio, C. M., & Vitousek, P. M. (1992). Biological invasions by exotic grasses, the grass/fire cycle, and global change. *Annual review of ecology and systematics*, 63-87.
- Fenster, C. B., Armbruster, W. S., Wilson, P., Dudash, M. R., & Thomson, J. D. (2004). Pollination syndromes and floral specialization. *Annual Review of Ecology, Evolution, and Systematics*, 375-403.
- Ghazoul, J. (2005). Buzziness as usual? Questioning the global pollination crisis. *Trends in ecology & evolution*, *20*(7), 367-373.
- Gómez, J. M., and R. Zamora. 2000. Spatial variation in the selective scenarios of *Hormathophylla spinosa* (Cruciferae). American Naturalist 155: 657-668.
- Groom, M. J. (2001). Consequences of subpopulation isolation for pollination, herbivory, and population growth in< i> Clarkia concinna concinna</i>(Onagraceae). *Biological Conservation*, *100*(1), 55-63.
- Hadley, N. F., & Szarek, S. R. (1981). Productivity of desert ecosystems. *BioScience*, 31(10), 747-753.
Harrington, M. R. (1933). Gypsum Cave, Nevada. Southwest museum.

- Hastings, J. R., Turner, R. M., & Warren, D. K. (1972). An atlas of some plant distributions in the Sonoran Desert (No. 21). University of Arizona, Institute of Atmospheric Physics.
- Hebblewhite, M., White, C. A., Nietvelt, C. G., McKenzie, J. A., Hurd, T. E., Fryxell, J. M., & Paquet, P. C. (2005). Human activity mediates a trophic cascade caused by wolves. *Ecology*, 86(8), 2135-2144.
- Hendrix, S. D. (1988). Herbivory and its impact on plant reproductive *ecology*, 246-263.
- Herbel, C. H., & Nelson, A. B. (1966). Activities of Hereford and Santa Gertrudis cattle on a southern New Mexico range. *Journal of Range Management*, 173-176.
- Hickman, James C., ed. 1993. The Jepson manual: Higher plants of California. Berkeley, CA: University of California Press. 1400 p. [21992]
- Holzapfel, C., & Mahall, B. E. (1999). Bidirectional facilitation and interference between shrubs and annuals in the Mojave Desert. *Ecology*, *80*(5), 1747-1761.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (2007), Climate Change 2007: The Physical Science Basis, Contribution of Working Group I to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, edited by S. Solomon et al., Cambridge Univ. Press, Cambridge, U. K
- James, C. D., Hoffman, M. T., Lightfoot, D. C., Forbes, G. S., & Whitford, W. G. (1994). FRUIT ABORTION IN YUCCA-ELATA AND ITS IMPLICATIONS FOR THE MUTUALISTIC ASSOCIATION WITH YUCCA MOTHS. *Oikos*, 69(2), 207-216.

- Johnson, Carl M. 1970. Common native trees of Utah. Special Report 22. Logan, UT: Utah State University, College of Natural Resources, Agricultural Experiment Station. 109 p. [9785]
- Jones, A. (2000). Effects of cattle grazing on North American arid ecosystems: a quantitative review. *Western North American Naturalist*, *60*(2), 155-164.
- Kay, C. E. (1990). YELLOWSTONE'S NORTHERN ELK HERD; A CRITICAL EVALUATION OF THE" NATURAL REGULATION "PARADIGM (Doctoral dissertation, Utah State University).

Kearney, T. H., & Peebles, R. H. (1960). Arizona flora. Univ of California Press.

- Kearns, C. A., Inouye, D. W., & Waser, N. M. (1998). Endangered mutualisms: The conservation of plant-pollinator interactions. *Annual Review of Ecology and Systematics*, 29, 83-112.
- Kerley, G. I. H., Tiver, F., & Whitford, W. G. (1993). HERBIVORY OF CLONAL
 POPULATIONS CATTLE BROWSING AFFECTS REPRODUCTION AND
 POPULATION-STRUCTURE OF YUCCA-ELATA. *Oecologia*, 93(1), 12-17.
- Kliemann, Michael Wm. 1979. A review of the natural values of the Hualapai Valley Joshua tree "forest"; an examination of the appropriateness of current protective measures at the site; and various recommendations aimed at improving protection of the resource. Kingman, AZ: U.S. Department of the Interior, Bureau of Land Management, Kingman Resource Area: 12-24. [61827]
- Kolb, A. (2008). Habitat fragmentation reduces plant fitness by disturbing pollination and modifying response to herbivory. *Biological Conservation, 141*(10), 2540-2549.

- Krupnick, G.A., Weis, A.E. & Campbell, D.R. (1999). The consequences of floral herbivory for pollinator service to *Isomeris aborea*. *Ecology*, 80, 125-134.
- Kunin, W. E. (1997). Population size and density effects in pollination: Pollinator foraging and plant reproductive success in experimental arrays of Brassica kaber. *Journal of Ecology*, 85(2), 225-234.
- Laudermilk, J. D., & Munz, P. A. (1934). *Plants in the dung of Nothrotherium from Gypsum Cave, Nevada*. Carnegie Institution of Washington.
- Lei, S. A. (1999). Postfire Woody Vegetation Recovery and Soil Properties in Blackbrush (Coleogyne ramosissima Torr.) Shrubland Ecotones. *Journal of the Arizona-Nevada Academy of Science*, 32(2), 105-115.
- Lenihan, J. M., Drapek, R., Bachelet, D., & Neilson, R. P. (2003). Climate change effects on vegetation distribution, carbon, and fire in California. *Ecological Applications*, 13(6), 1667-1681.
- Linder HP. 1998. Morphology and the evolution of wind pollination. In: Owens SJ, Rudall PF, eds. *Reproductive biology in systematics, conservation and economic botany*. Kew: Royal Botanic Gardens, 123-135.
- Lovich, J. E., and D. Bainbridge. 1999. Anthropogenic defradation of the southern California desert ecosystem and prospects for natural recovery and restoration. Environmental Management. 24:309-326.
- Marr DL, Leebens-Mack J, Elms L, Pellmyr O. 2000. Pollen dispersal in Yucca filamentosa

(Agavaceae): the paradox of self-pollination behavior by Tegeticula yuccasella (Prodoxidae). American Journal of Botany 87: 670–677.

Maxwell, C. G. 1971. The tree that is not a tree. American Forests. 77(3): 4-5. [5804]

McKelvey, S. D. (1935). Notes on Yucca. Journal of the Arnold Arboretum, 16, 268-271.

- McLaughlin, S. P., & Bowers, J. E. (1982). Effects of wildfire on a Sonoran Desert plant community. *Ecology*, 246-248.
- Mothershead, K., & Marquis, R. J. (2000). Fitness impacts of herbivory through indirect effects on plant-pollinator interactions in Oenothera macrocarpa.*Ecology*, *81*(1), 30-40.
- Munz, P. A. (1974). A flora of southern California. Berkeley, Los Angeles, London, California Univ. Press.
- Pellmyr, O. (2002). Pollination by animals. *Plant–animal interactions, an evolutionary approach*, 157-184.
- Pellmyr, O. (2003). Yuccas, yucca moths, and coevolution: A review. *Annals of the Missouri Botanical Garden*, 90(1), 35-55.
- Pellmyr, O., & Huth, C. J. (1994). EVOLUTIONARY STABILITY OF MUTUALISM BETWEEN YUCCAS AND YUCCA MOTHS. *Nature*, *372*(6503), 257-260.
- Powell, J.A., 1992. INTERRELATIONSHIPS OF YUCCAS AND YUCCA MOTHS. Trends in Ecology & Evolution 7, 10-15.

- R Development Core Team (2008). R: A language and environment for statistical computing. R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria. ISBN 3-900051-07-0, URL http://www.R-project.org.
- Renner, S. S. 1998 Effects of habitat fragmentation on plant–pollinator interactions in the tropics. In Dynamics of tropical communities (ed. D. M. Newbery, H. H. T. Prins & N. D. Brown), pp. 339–360. Oxford: Blackwell Science.
- Schmid, M. K., & Rogers, G. F. (1988). Trends in fire occurrence in the Arizona upland subdivision of the Sonoran Desert, 1955 to 1983. *The Southwestern Naturalist*, 437-444.
- Shapiro, J., & Addicott, J. F. (2004). Re-evaluating the role of selective abscission in moth/yucca mutualisms.*Oikos*, 105(3), 449-460.
- Skaug, H., Fournier, D., Nielsen, A., Magnusson, A., & Bolker, B. (2011). glmmADMB: generalized linear mixed models using AD Model Builder. *R package version 0.6, 5*, r143.
- Strauss, S.Y., Irwin, R.E. & Lambrix, V. (2004). Optimal defense theory and flower petal colour predict variation in the secondary chemistry of wild radish. J. Ecol., 92, 132-141
- Udovic, D., & Aker, C. (1981). Fruit abortion and the regulation of fruit number in Yucca whipplei. Oecologia, 49(2), 245-248.
- Waites, A. R., & Ågren, J. O. N. (2004). Pollinator visitation, stigmatic pollen loads and among-population variation in seed set in Lythrum salicaria. *Journal of Ecology*, 92(3), 512-526.
- Webb RH, Belnap J, Thomas KA (2009) Natural Recovery from Severe Disturbance in the

Mojave Desert. In: Webb RH, Fenstermaker LF, Heaton JS, Hughson DL, McDonald EV, Miller DM (eds) The Mojave Desert: ecosystem processes and sustainability. University of Nevada Press, Reno, Nevada 89577 USA, pp 343–377.

- Weisberg, P. J., & Bugmann, H. (2003). Forest dynamics and ungulate herbivory: from leaf to landscape. *Forest Ecology and Management*, *181*(1), 1-12.
- Welsh, S. L., Atwood, N. D., Goodrich, S., & Higgins, L. C. (1993). A Utah flora(No. Ed. 2).Brigham Young University.
- Westerling, A. L., Hidalgo, H. G., Cayan, D. R., & Swetnam, T. W. (2006). Warming and earlier spring increase western US forest wildfire activity. *Science*, 313(5789), 940-943.
- White, G. C., & Bennetts, R. E. (1996). Analysis of frequency count data using the negative binomial distribution. *Ecology*, 2549-2557.
- Zamora, R., Gómez, J. M., Hódar, J. A., Castro, J., & García, D. (2001). Effect of browsing by ungulates on sapling growth of Scots pine in a Mediterranean environment: consequences for forest regeneration. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 144(1), 33-42.

Chapter 2: Tables

Table 2.1 Z-values from glmmADMB linear mixed-effects models examining flower, fruit, and browsing proportions.

	$\mathbf{\bar{x}} \pm SE(\mathbf{n})$			
Source	Unburned	Burned	Z	$\Pr(> z)$
Y. brevifolia				
Flowers per plant	862±111(25)	959±114(22)	-0.58	0.56
Fruits per plant	92±14(25)	110±15(22)	-0.93	0.35
Y. baccata				
Floral Herbivory(%)	50±1.6(966)	67±1.0(2034)	-3.88	<0.001***

Significance designated as *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

Table 2.2 LMER mixed-effects linear models examining the proportion of *Y. baccata* that flowered, the number of flowers per panicle for both *Y. baccata* and *Y. brevifolia*, and the numbers of moths collected per trap per two week trapping period for *Y. brevifolia* as a function of fire.

	$\bar{\mathbf{x}} \pm \mathrm{SE}\left(\mathbf{n}\right)$			- (-)
Source	Unburned	Burned	F	Pr(>F)
Y. baccata				
Flowering Plants(%)	12±0.38(7735)	22±0.44(9051)	28.78	<0.001**
Flowers per Plant	43±9.53(10)	59±3.76(10)	2.67	0.17
Y. brevifolia				
Floral Herbivory(%)	1.2±0.1(966)	3.1±1.2(2036)	2.58	0.35
Moths per Panicle	8±1.58(13)	7±.96(20)	0.41	0.72

Significance designated as *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.



Fig. 2.1 Map of Beaver Dam Wash (n37.14, W114.03) study site. Transect lines in unburned areas (white) were paired with adjacent burned transect lines (black). *Y. baccata* browse and flower data collected in burned locations (black circles) and unburned locations (white circles). *Y. brevifolia* browse data collected in unburned areas (grey circles). Study area denoted by black rectangle in southwest corner of Utah.



Fig. 2.2 The mean proportion (percent) of plants that flowered in unburned (black bars) and burned (grey bars) areas for *Y. baccata* and *Y. brevifolia* ± standard error values.



Fig. 2.3 The mean number of flowers and fruits produced per plant in unburned (black bars) and burned (grey bars) areas for *Y. baccata* and *Y. brevifolia* \pm standard error values.



Fig. 2.4 The mean proportion (percent) of panicles that were severely damaged or completely consumed by large ungulate herbivory in unburned (black bars) and burned (grey bars) areas for *Y. baccata* and *Y. brevifolia* \pm standard error values.



Fig. 2.5 The mean number of *Tegiticula* moths counted per trap (1 panicle) per two week trapping period in unburned (black bars) and burned (grey bars) areas for *Y. baccata* and *Y. brevifolia* \pm standard error values.